Marion County Jail and Work Release Center Salem, OR Inmate Survey Report, 2015

Submitted to:

Commander Sheila Lorance Marion County Sheriff's Office 4000 Aumsville Hwy SE Salem, OR 97317

Submitted by:

NPC ResearchPortland, OR



July 2015



NPC Research 5100 SW Macadam Ave., Ste. 575 Portland, OR 97239 (503) 243-2436 www.npcresearch.com

Marion County Jail and Work Release Center Salem, OR

Inmate Survey Report, 2015

Submitted by

NPC Research

Paige M. Harrison, Ph.D.

For questions about this report or project, please contact Paige Harrison at (503) 243-2436 x 131 or harrison@npcresearch.com.

July 2015



Informing policy, improving programs

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This report is made possible by the support of many people. In particular, we wish to express gratitude to:

- Commander Lorance and Justin Ford for working with us on the scope, timeline, and funding of the project and an additional thank you to Commander Lorance for answering questions and reviewing survey revisions on her time off to keep the project moving along.
- Deputy Gutierrez for translating the survey into Spanish in record time.
- The staff at the Marion County Jail for their crucial assistance in administering the surveys. Most particularly Lieutenant Gonzalez and Lieutenant Larson for coordinating the visit and Deputy Dunbar, Deputy Gutierrez, Sergeant Davis for escorting the team through the facilities with an admirable balance of efficiency and thoroughness.
- Megan Redfield, Brandon Carey, Martín Holguin, and Maria Rhodes for their great attention to detail and being willing spend a very long day in jail.
- Charley Jaspera and Juliette Mackin for reviewing the report.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section I: Background	1
Survey Information	
Survey Mode	1
Method of Administration	1
Timing of Administration	2
Response Rate	2
Data Cleaning and Analyses	3
Section II: Findings	5
Demographics	
Age	6
Race	7
Marital Status	8
Education	8
Citizenship and Language	9
Resident Status and Homelessness	10
Employment	13
Criminal History	
Adult Criminal History and Current Status	15
Family Criminal History	20
Social Services	21
Disabilities, Medical Problems, and Mental Health Issues Disabilities	
Medical Issues	22
Mental Health Issues	24
Alcohol and DrugsAlcohol	
Drugs	27
Military Service	27
Family Situation and Social Ties	28



ii

Childhood	28
Children	29
Gang Membership	31
Domestic Violence and Other Physical and Sexual Abuse	31
Programming and Service NeedsReasons For Incarceration	
Reducing Recidivism and Reentry Needs	34
Summary	35
References	37
APPENDIX A: SURVEY ITEM FREQUENCIES	39
Appendix B: Survey	127

SECTION I: BACKGROUND

he Marion County Sheriff's Office (MCSO) periodically conducts a survey to assess the characteristics and needs of inmates held in the work release center and the jail. Most recently, surveys were conducted in 2005, 2007, and 2011. The MCSO contracted with NPC Research (NPC) in May 2015 to conduct the latest survey.

Survey Information

While the current report makes comparisons to previous survey iterations where possible, there are several factors to keep in mind when making comparisons of survey items over time, including survey content, method of administration, timing of administration, and methods of cleaning and analyses. Each is briefly discussed below.

SURVEY ITEMS

While efforts were made to retain core survey items (e.g., demographics, criminal history) across administrations, some modules were added or edited over time to cover key areas of interest, such as veterans, parenting, gang activity, and methamphetamine use. Due to the short time between contract finalization and administration, NPC focused on reformatting and editing the existing survey and did not add a topical module.

SURVEY MODE

Previously the survey items used check boxes to record answers; the questions were completed by the inmates and then entered into a database by staff. NPC opted to use a Teleform survey administration. The survey was reformatted to require inmates to fill in answer bubbles for each question, which were then scanned by a machine into a database. Teleform was used to save time and money, and apply consistent decision rules when interpreting answers (such as how to code multiple answers for a single-answer item). In adopting this approach, several open-ended items involving free text had to be converted to limited answer options. Answer distributions from the previous survey were used to inform answer options. For example, instead of asking what medical problem(s) a person has, inmates were asked to select from a list of the most prevalent medical issues, with "other" being a catch-all for less common ailments.

METHOD OF ADMINISTRATION

Since NPC did not conduct the previous administrations, we cannot be sure we followed the same protocols used previously. The administration approach between the work release center and the jail (and then from unit to unit within the jail) also varied in the 2015 administration. In the work release units, the purpose of the survey was announced in the dayroom area and residents were asked to complete the survey there. In the general population areas of the jail, blocks of cells were opened so NPC staff could announce the



purpose of the survey and request participation. In some instances, inmates filed out, obtained the survey from NPC staff, returned to their cell for completion, and NPC staff collected completely surveys either all at once or as they were completed; in others, NPC staff passed out surveys door to door and then returned to collect them. In the administrative segregation area, NPC staff went door to door to explain the purpose of the survey and request participation. NPC staff also conducted one-to-one interviews when requested.

TIMING OF ADMINISTRATION

The previous survey was conducted in December 2011; the current survey was conducted on a Friday and Saturday in June 2015. The work release center has a capacity of 144 residents and had 114 listed on the roster on the first day of administration. The jail has a capacity of 400 inmates (excluding about 15 intake beds) and had 361 listed on the roster on the first day of administration. (We did not update the rosters on the second day of administration to simplify tracking and because new arrivals are less likely to want to participate in a survey.)

Jail populations can vary by season (Bennett & Lattin, 2009), and characteristics of the population may vary accordingly. It is noted in the report when differences between survey findings may be attributable, at least in part, to seasonal population differences.

RESPONSE RATE

As noted above, the populations in both facilities were low at the time of administration—the work release center was at 79% capacity and the jail at 90%. The survey response rate is detailed in Table 1 below. The response rate in the work release center was 62% and the rate in the jail was 77%, for an overall response rate of about 74%. Many in the work release center had left for work or left during administration. There were also various challenges in the jail, including inmate movements (on work detail or out to court), newly arrived inmates still under the influence of drugs or alcohol, and other statuses or activities that impacted the response rate (i.e., administrative segregation, watching a movie in the dayroom). We have no reason to believe there is any bias in the sample of inmates completing the survey.

Table 1: Response rate by facility

	Work release ^a	Jail ^b	Total
Count on roster	114	348	462
Surveys completed ^c	71	270	341
Response rate	62.3%	77.5%	73.8%

^aIncludes persons out to work and refusals.

^cIncludes partially completed surveys and excludes approximately 7 surveys that were blank, destroyed, or only mostly missing.

^bExcludes those on intake status and those released before or during Friday administration; count includes refusals, persons out to court or on detail, and others who may not have heard about the survey.

DATA CLEANING AND ANALYSES

There were several questions in which respondents were asked to select one answer and instead selected several. Where possible, these items were re-coded to allow for multiple responses. Some of these items will not be directly comparable to previous years as a result (since they will sum to more than 100%). For survey items that required a single answer, the more conservative answer was selected. For example, if a respondent marked that they have been Oregon residents for "1-5 years" and "more than 20 years," the "1-5 years" option was selected. Documentation on decisions made for each question is available upon request. In instances where a respondent marked "yes" and "no" to a single question, the reviewer looked for context (did they go on to answer follow-up questions indicating that "yes" was the correct answer). If the intended answer was not clear, the answer option was left blank. This documentation was not available from previous surveys, so NPC may have made different judgments than the last contractor; however, we do not believe these instances to be sufficiently frequent to result in significantly different outcomes in the aggregate.

Analyses in most cases were straightforward. For questions that applied to everyone, the denominator used to calculate percentages was everyone who answered the question (see the "valid percent" column in the frequencies in the Appendix A); for follow-up questions, the denominator was the subset of people who answered the base question (those who didn't answer were filtered out of the calculation, and then the "valid percent" column was again used). For example, if a respondent said "no" to having children, they were then taken out of the denominator to calculate the percentages for the subsequent questions about children. When the denominator has been filtered, the sub-headings are indented in the tables. This is important to note so that findings are not misinterpreted. For example, see Table 12 where time in Oregon is reported only for those who said they were Oregon residents.

Crosstabulations by sex were also requested and are available in a separate PDF document due to length.

In most instances, findings were consistent with previous ones, indicating that a similar analyses approach was used. Cases where data are not comparable are noted and/or previous findings are not presented in tables. Differences in item responses to those in previous years are based on percentages and were not subjected to testing for statistical significance due to time and budget limitations.

SECTION II: FINDINGS

urvey findings were compared to previous years whenever possible. NPC used reports and PowerPoint presentations as sources for previous findings. As noted in the previous section, there were times that data were not comparable due to a change to the question or differences in analytic approach. These differences are noted in the sections below. Findings are also sometimes compared to national jail population statistics to offer context for how MCSO is both similar to and different from jail populations in the nation.

The number of respondents (n) varied for each survey and for items within each survey (due to skip patterns, non-response, or unclear responses). The table below shows the total number of respondents for each survey year. To simplify tables, n's for each cell were not included in the report tables, but are available in the frequency tables in Appendix A. The survey is available in Appendix B.

Table 2: Number of respondents

Year	Respondents (n)
2015	341
2011	467
2007	565
2005	442

Demographics

Demographics describe the general characteristics of the population and include the following variables collected in the survey: sex, age, race, marital status, education, citizenship, residency and homelessness, and employment.



SEX

About one in six inmates (17%) in MCSO was female in 2015, slightly higher than the percent of females in the 2011 population (14%) and slightly lower than the 2007 and 2005 populations (20% and 19%, respectively). This percent is also slightly higher than the average found in the nation's jails, according to the Annual Survey of Jails, 2014 (Minton & Zeng, 2015), the most recent available data. The MCSO female population was between 3 percentage points (in 2015) and just over 6 percentage points (in 2005) higher than the national average. Female inmates often have backgrounds involving trauma (see the domestic violence and abuse findings later in the report) and have different needs than male inmates in trying to break the incarceration cycle.

Table 3: Inmates by sex, MCSO and national average

Sex by source	2015	2011	2007	2005
MCSO				
Male	82.7 %	85.9 %	80.0 %	84.0 %
Female	17.3	14.1	20.0	19.0
National*				
Male	85.3 %	87.3 %	87.1 %	87.3 %
Female	14.7	12.7	12.9	12.7
*Percents for 2015 a	are for midyear 2	2014 (Minton	& Zeng, 2015).

AGE

Age was tabulated using dates of birth based on the roster documentation of who completed the surveys (thus, this is the only variable based on administrative data rather than self-report). The 0.9% for inmates ages 15-18 in 2015 represents three inmates, all age 18. The mean age in 2015 was 34.4 years (mean age for previous years is not readily available).

Table 4: Inmates by age

Age (years)	2015	2011	2007	2005
15-18	0.9 %	0.9 %	1.6 %	1.6 %
19-22	9.2	15.2	9.2	11.5
23-26	18.7	11.4	18.8	20.8
27-30	12.8	17.1	16.3	17.0
31-34	15.3	14.1	10.1	10.6
35-38	10.4	10.7	16.3	20.4
39-42	12.5	11.8	6.7	8.4
43-46	6.4	7.1	7.8	3.9
47-50	4.6	6.4	6.7	2.9
51-54	4.6	3.2	4.3	1.1
55-58	2.1	1.7	1.6	1.1
Over 58	2.4	0.4	0.7	0.7

As with the rest of the nation, the jail inmate population at MCSO is gradually aging: the 15-26 and 27-38 categories made up a smaller portion of the population in 2015 compared to 2005, and the 39-50 and 50+ categories made up a larger portion. The 50+ category has tripled since 2005 (from about 3% to 9%). While much of the focus on the aging inmate population is on prisons, older inmates may bring a plethora of medical issues with them that can be challenging for jails to address (see section on medical problems later in the report).

Table 5: Inmates older on average

Age (years)	2015	2011	2007	2005
15-26	9.2 %	15.2 %	9.2 %	11.5 %
27-38	38.5	42.0	42.7	48.0
39-50	23.5	25.3	21.3	15.2
Over 50	9.1	5.4	6.6	2.9

RACE

The MCSO jail population is largely White and Hispanic/Latino (52% and 21% in 2015, respectively). Please note that Hispanic/Latino is categorized with race due to shifting social definitions of race and ethnicity – i.e., Hispanic/Latino individuals often do not self-identify as both Hispanic/Latino and White (as was the convention in the past).

According to estimates from the U.S. Census Bureau, Marion County is about two-thirds White (non-Hispanic Whites). While Whites are the largest group in the jail (52%) in 2015, other racial groups are overrepresented, particularly African Americans and "two or more races." For the latter, this may be due to individuals increasingly likely to identify more than one race/ethnicity, particularly when given this option in self-report surveys. Previous surveys had a mixed race category with a "please specify" and the 2015 survey had a "mark all that apply" option and "other" category. The table below shows a slight increase in "other" from 2005 to 2011 – for these years "other" represents "mixed race" while in 2015, the "other" category represents "other race." The two or more category shows that almost 13% percent of inmates in 2015 identified as mixed race when given the opportunity to select multiple answers.

Table 6: Inmates by race/ethnicity

rable 6. Initiates by race, etimicity						
	U.S. Census					
Race/ethnicity	estimates, 2013	2015	2011	2007	2005	
White	67.5 %	52.4 %	57.0 %	52.7 %	56.6 %	
Hispanic/Latino	25.3	21.3	19.9	28.1	26.9	
American Indian	2.5	3.6	11.1	8.9	7.9	
African American	1.4	6.0	7.3	8.0	6.1	
Asian	2.2	0.6	1.9	1.1	1.6	
Other*	0.9	3.3	2.8	0.4	0.9	
Two or more	3.2	12.7				
*Includes mixed races	in 2005, 2007, and 2011.					



MARITAL STATUS

Marital status is another demographic measure that varies over time. Most inmates consistently identify as "single." In 2007 and 2011, respondents were given the option to select partner/living together; however, this category can introduce confusion for those who are legally single but have a significant other with whom they may or may not reside, so this option was removed in 2015. The proportion of inmates who were married peaked in 2007 at 28% and fell to 17% in 2015, the lowest marriage rate recorded in the decade.

Table 7: Inmate marital status

Marital Status	2015	2011	2007	2005
Married	17.1 %	19.3 %	28.1 %	22.2 %
Single	51.8	38.5	27.8	51.8
Divorced	17.1	14.8	16.8	19.0
Separated	7.2	7.5	9.4	6.6
Widow/Widower	1.2	1.9	1.1	0.5
Partner/Living Together		18.0	16.8	
Other	5.7			
Not available.				

EDUCATION

The inmate population in 2015 has more education compared to the 2007 population. A smaller proportion had 8 years or less of completed education years and about one-third of inmates (32%) had at least 1 year of college in 2015 compared to 8% in 2007 (data for 2005 were not available).

Table 8: Years of education (completed)

		<u> </u>	
Years	2015	2011	2007
8 yrs. or less	7.7 %	10.3 %	10.5 %
9-11 yrs.	31.5	38.8	21.4
12 yrs.	28.5	28.9	35.4
1 yr. college	14.8	11.4	2.7
2 yrs. college	10.7	7.5	3.4
3+ yrs. college	6.8	3.2	2.1

Another third of inmates in 2015 were high school graduates, slightly higher than in prior survey years. Inmates were more likely to have a high school degree or GED in 2015 compared to 2005 (71% and 55%, respectively).

Table 9: High school graduates

Year	Yes	No
2015	38.3 %	61.7 %
2011	31.5	68.5
2007	28.5	71.5
2005	34.2	65.8

Table 10: Received GED

Year	Yes	No	Not applicable*
2015	32.8 %	29.0 %	38.2 %
2011	32.1	36.4	31.5
2007	8.0	63.5	28.5
2005	20.6	45.3	34.2
*High school graduates.			

Nearly half of respondents in 2015 reported receiving their GED from a community college. The fact that one-third of respondents in 2015 reported receiving a GED while incarcerated (up from 20% in 2007) indicates that these programs in jail and prison facilities are being utilized.

Table 11: GED Received at -

Year	Community college	While incarcerated	Other
2015	46.4 %	32.8 %	20.8 %
2011	58.3	29.1	12.6
2007	53.3	20.0	26.7

CITIZENSHIP AND LANGUAGE

About 8% of inmates in 2015 reported they were not U.S. citizens. (Nearly 8% of respondents—26 people—did not answer this question in 2015; additional analyses were done to determine the race/ethnicity of those opting out of this question, and all were White but one.) The non-citizen population for the decade peaked in 2005 at 13%.

Table 12: U.S. Citizenship

Year	Yes	No
2015	92.1 %	7.9 %
2011	91.7	8.4
2007	92.6	7.4
2005	87.1	12.9



Most inmates reported their primary language was English (86% in 2015). Most inmates said they could speak English (97%), and four in 10 (41%) could speak Spanish, the highest percentages over the decade.

Table 13: Language

Language	2015	2011	2007	2005
Primary language				
English	86.5 %	85.9 %	88.9 %	83.3 %
Spanish	12.2	12.9	11.2	16.7
Other	1.3	1.3	0.0	0.0
Able to speak* -				
English	97.0 %	93.6 %	93.5 %	93.7 %
Spanish	40.8	22.7	34.7	34.4
*Percents don't add to 100% because respondents could select both				

^{*}Percents don't add to 100% because respondents could select both options.

RESIDENT STATUS AND HOMELESSNESS

Over 90% of inmates over time reported being Oregon residents, most have been in Oregon more than 10 years, eight in 10 were Marion County residents, and most are from Salem. These findings were consistent over the last three surveys, although a higher percentage said they have been Oregon residents more than 20 years in 2015 (62%) compared to previous years.

Table 14: Resident characteristics

Resident characteristics	2015	2011	2007
Oregon resident	94.9 %	97.0 %	90.8 %
Time in Oregon			
< 6 mons.	0.9 %	2.7 %	1.9 %
6 mons 1 yr.	0.9	2.4	5.0
1 - 5 yrs.	7.5	12.2	12.2
6 - 10 yrs.	5.7	12.2	8.3
11 - 15 yrs.	12.9	13.7	8.3
16 - 20 yrs.	10.4	26.8	15.0
> 20 yrs.	61.6	30.2	49.4
Marion County resident	79.3 %	85.9 %	82.0 %
Community			
Salem	68.6 %	68.8 %	65.2 %
Keizer	8.1	13.0	10.3
Woodburn	6.6	8.0	11.9
Mt. Angel	0.4	2.7	2.5
Silverton	3.5	3.0	3.6
Other	12.8	4.5	6.5

About two-thirds of respondents across survey years reported having a permanent place to live prior to their most recent arrest. About half of inmates in 2011 and 2015 said they have a permanent place to go after release, compared to just over one-third in 2007.

Table 15: Permanent residence

Permanent place to live -	2015	2011	2007	
Prior to arrest				
Yes	62.1 %	66.8 %	66.5 %	
No	37.9	33.2	33.5	
Post-release*				
Yes	50.9	49.9 %	35.9 %	
No	49.1	51.1	64.1	
*Expect to have permanent residence post-release.				

About 46% of inmates in 2015 said they had ever been denied housing due to their criminal record compared to 63% in 2011. Research has shown that federal and local public housing authorities have a "one strike and you're out" policy for certain offenses, barring those with a single conviction from public housing or housing assistance (Vallas and Dietrich, 2014). Private housing entities may also deny housing based on criminal record and/or a failure to meet income requirements, which can compound reentry challenges since employment can be difficult to obtain with a criminal record.

Table 16: Denied housing

Ever denied housing*	2015	2011
Yes	45.5 %	63.4 %
No	54.5	36.6
*Due to criminal record.		



The prevalence of homelessness was similar across surveys. About seven in 10 inmates in 2015 reported ever being homeless and about half (53%) of these people were homeless just before their arrest. (Note: 62% reported a permanent residence – it may be that some respondents were staying with friends or family at a permanent residence, but still considered themselves functionally homeless. Similar discrepancies are found across surveys years.) About 75.3% who reported in 2015 being homeless at some point said they were homeless more than once and 42% reported at least once homeless period that lasted more than 1 year. Unemployment and substance abuse were the most common reasons listed for homelessness.

Table 17: Homelessness characteristics

Homelessness measures	2015	2011	2007
Ever homeless	69.6 %	62.5 %	68.0 %
Homeless just before arrest	53.4	53.4	49.2
Number of times homeless			
1	24.7 %	24.3 %	37.2 %
2	21.6	23.3	39.1
3	11.3	17.1	15.9
More than 3	42.4	35.3	7.8
Longest period homeless			
< 30 days	9.1 %	14.4 %	26.4 %
30 - 60 days	13.9	7.9	20.7
61-90 days	10.8	11.3	20.7
91 - 120 days	8.7	4.1	14.7
121 - 180 days	7.4	10.7	3.4
181 days to 1 yr.	8.2	21.6	5.2
> 1 yr.	42.0	30.1	8.9
Reasons for homelessness*			
Unemployed	36.8 %	71.2 %	56.3 %
Substance abuse	39.7	39.4	15.5
Jail/Prison record	26.5	37.7	14.9
Mental health issues	17.1	19.2	
Other	22.6	10.6	13.4

*Will not sum to 100% because respondents could select more than 1 option.

--Not available.

EMPLOYMENT

Employment challenges for those with a criminal record have been well-documented, most recently by Vallas & Dietrich, 2014, and have inspired policy discussions such as criminal record "redemption" (capping the time for which a criminal record remains active, see Blumstein & Nakamura, 2009).

About half of respondents (49%) in 2015 reported having a job prior to arrest. Nearly one-third (31%) expected to have a job upon release, a higher percent than in previous survey years. Nearly one in six (58%) reported said they had been denied a job due to a criminal record.

Table 18: Employment history and prospects

Employment	2015	2011	2007
Job prior to arrest	49.2 %	43.0 %	61.1 %
Expect job upon release	31.1	16.9	21.1
Ever denied job*	58.0	63.4	72.9
*Due to criminal history.			

Monthly income prior to arrest varied across respondents and compared to previous survey years. One notable difference is that nearly 12% of respondents reported a monthly income of over \$3,000 in 2015. Just over one-quarter (26.7%) of inmates reported a monthly income over \$2,000 in 2015, compared to 11% of inmates in 2005. Still, a larger percentage of inmates in both years reported \$1,000 or less (36% in 2015 and 38% in 2005).

Table 19: Monthly income prior to arrest

	- p			
Monthly income*	2015	2011	2007	2005
\$1 - \$499	12.4 %	12.9 %	3.0 %	11.0 %
\$500 - \$1,000	23.6	23.4	29.2	27.2
\$1,001 - \$1,500	22.4	25.9	47.8	38.1
\$1,501 - \$2,000	14.9	18.9	11.8	12.4
\$2,001 - \$2,500	9.3	11.4	2.7	5.8
\$2,501 - \$3,000	5.6	6.0	4.7	2.4
Over \$3,000	11.8	1.5	0.9	3.1
*In the month before arrest.				

Criminal History

Many individuals in jail have previous experience with the criminal justice system. This section briefly describes the extent of that experience.



JUVENILE CRIMINAL HISTORY

About half of respondents (51%) in 2015 had been arrested as a juvenile, and most were under the age 15 at the time of their first arrest (59%). Over three-quarters of inmates arrested as a juvenile inmates had been under juvenile supervision or in juvenile detention, lower than the 95% in 2007. About 30% of this group spent time with the Oregon Youth Authority (OYA), twice the 2007 rate (15%).

Table 20: Criminal involvement as a juvenile

Juvenile record	2015	2011	2007
Juvernie record	2013	2011	2007
Arrested as a juvenile	51.2 %	47.8 %	54.3 %
Age of first arrest			
Under 15	59.1	49.8	46.3
15 - 17	40.9	50.2	53.8
Ever under juvenile supervision	77.2 %	70.4 %	94.8 %
Ever in juvenile detention	76.6	66.8	95.5
Committed to OYA	29.8	28.7	15.0

ADULT CRIMINAL HISTORY AND CURRENT STATUS

Over half of the jail population in 2015 (54%) was awaiting a court appearance, slightly higher than the 48% in 2011, but lower than the national average of 63% in 2014 (Minton & Zeng, 2015).

Table 21: Awaiting court and charge(s)

Jail status and charge(s)	2015	2011	2007
Waiting for court	53.5 %	48.4 %	51.3 %
Charge*			
Misdemeanor - Person	21.7 %	12.4 %	5.9 %
Misdemeanor - Property	11.4	7.1	6.9
Misdemeanor - Other	12.6	20.4	5.6
Felony - Person	28.0	43.4	17.7
Felony - Property	18.3	25.7	39.9
Drug Offense	14.5	25.2	14.6
Probation/Parole violation	13.8	35.8	4.2
DUI	4.0	5.3	5.2
Other	15.4		
*Will not sum to 100% because of r	nultiple charges	5.	•
Not available.			

The offense charges between the survey iterations differed fairly substantially. The 2015 survey was administered in early June, the 2011 survey in December, and the 2007 survey in July. According to the National Crime Victimization survey, there are differences in overall offending and in offense type by season (Lauritsen & White, 2014). For example, rates of household burglaries, aggravated assault, rape/sexual assault, and intimate partner violence are statistically higher in summer months compared to winter months. However, these trends offer no real clarity to the differences in distributions between the surveys in MCSO facilities.

The persons in jail awaiting court on misdemeanor person and misdemeanor property charges were highest in 2015 (22% and 11%, respectively) compared to prior surveys. Felony person charges fell from the 2011 survey to 28% in 2015, and felony property charges were the lowest in 2015 among the three survey periods at 18%. Drug charges were consistent with the 2007 report (15%), but lower than 2011, and probation/parole violations were less than half the 2011 percentage (14% versus 36%). DUIs also declined slightly from 5% to 4%. The decline in both drug charges and probation parole charges from 2011 could be an actual decline in activity or be reflective of law enforcement priorities.

The proportion of MCSO inmates serving a sentence is higher in 2015, particularly when compared to 2007 (55% compared to 49%), as is the percentage of those convicted of a misdemeanor person offense (21% compared to 10%) and drug offenses (23% compared to 1%). Probation/parole violation convictions reached a high of 39% in 2015, possibly reflecting a



policy change in supervision. Distributions of sentence length have shifted slightly, mostly on the low and high ends—about a quarter of 2015 inmates are serving a sentence of 30 days, compared to 15% in 2011; 20% are serving more than 180 days compared to 13% doing so in 2011. Conviction charges and sentence length are both subject to many influences, including law enforcement priorities, plea bargaining practices, ballot measures (Measure 57), and judicial approaches.

Table 22: Conviction charge and sentence length

Jail status, charges, sentence	2015	2011	2007
Serving jail sentence	55.3 %	51.6 %	48.7 %
Conviction charge*			
Misdemeanor - Person	21.0 %	17.4 %	9.82 %
Misdemeanor - Property	9.0	10.8	20.7
Misdemeanor - Other	29.3	22.4	25.1
Drug Offense	23.4	19.5	0.7
Probation/Parole Violation	38.9	26.6	31.6
DUI	11.4	19.9	12.0
Sentence			
1 - 10 days	1.2 %	2.9 %	
11- 20 days	9.9	1.7	
21 - 30 days	17.4	10.4	
31- 60 days	16.8	13.3	
61 - 90 days	11.8	14.1	
91 - 120 days	8.7	12.5	
121 - 180 days	14.3	32.8	
More than 180 days	19.9	12.5	

^{*}Will not sum to 100% because of multiple charges.

⁻⁻Not available.

About 44% of respondents in 2015 (both unconvicted and convicted) had served 30 days or less at the time of the survey, compared to 52% in 2011 and 76% in 2007. This turnover is a key challenge jails face in providing programming and services, since many inmates are not incarcerated long enough for sustained programming or assistance. Still, the proportion of inmates with more than 90 days in jail increased from 21% in 2011 to 26% in 2015 (the data were not available for 2007), so there is sufficient time for lengthier programming and service opportunities for part of the population should such services be appropriate during incarceration.

Only 13% of inmates reported the current stay in 2015 to be their first time in jail, compared to 17% in 2011, and 42% nationally (James, 2004). About 38% in 2015 reported 10 or more incarcerations, up from 27% in 2011 and 14% in 2007. About 14% also reported being in jail more than 5 times in the last year, up from 2% in 2011 and 1% in 2007.

Table 23: Time in jail and previous jail experience

Time(s) in jail	2015	2011	2007
Length of current time served			
1 - 10 days	18.9 %	15.2 %	25.0 %
11- 20 days	16.2	16.3	26.1
21 - 30 days	9.1	20.6	24.7
31- 60 days	18.0	19.9	13.1
61 - 90 days	11.9	7.3	11.0 *
91 - 120 days	6.7	8.8	
121 - 180 days	6.7	6.6	
More than 180 days	12.5	5.4	
Total number of times in jail			
First time	12.8 %	16.5 %	11.7 %
2-3 times	20.6	28.3	33.6
4-5 times	14.3	13.1	26.4
6-7 times	9.9	8.8	10.6
8-9 times	4.5	6.6	3.7
10 or more times	37.9	26.8	14.0
Times in jail in last 12 months			
First time	43.7 %	49.9 %	61.7 %
2 times	22.3	24.4	
3 times	10.4	11.6	
4 times	7.3	9.4	
5 times	1.7	3.0	
> 5 times	14.4	1.7	1.2
*Category in 2007 was over 60 days.			

-Not available.



About half of respondents said they were currently on probation (48%), up about 10 percentage points from 2011 and 2007. Inmates reported whether they had ever had a probation revocation at similar rates in 2015 and 2011, but there was a shift in the reasons—technical violations declined from 2011 and new offenses increased. About one-third of jail inmates in 2015 said they were on parole, up from 13% in 2011, with revocation rates and reasons similar over both survey periods, although parole violations for technical offenses were down in 2015 to 39%, from 61% in 2007.

Table 24: Supervision status and history

Table 241 Super Vision Status and			
Probation/parole history	2015	2011	2007
Currently on probation	48.3 %	37.7 %	36.6 %
Probation ever revoked	47.3	48.6	12.6
Reason probation revoked			
Technical violation	36.5 %	55.5 %	50.7 %
New offense	43.9	36.1	49.3
Currently on parole	35.3 %	13.3 %	19.7 %
Parole ever revoked	17.5	8.8	3.5
Reason parole revoked			
Technical violation	38.5 %	42.9 %	61.1 %
New offense	50.0	57.1	38.9

About one-third of jail inmates (36%) in 2015 reported serving prior prison time, consistent with the 2011 survey and slightly lower than the 2007 survey (40%). Just under half of those inmates (44%) in 2015 reported one prison stay, lower than the 66% reported in 2007. About one in five in 2015 said they had been to prison more than 3 times. One-fifth (21%) served a total of less than 2 years (up from 8% in 2011 and 17% in 2007). The largest share (60%) served from 2 to just under 10 years (80% in 2011), and 19% of the 2015 respondents served more than 10 years (up from 13% in 2011).

Table 25: Prior prison experience

Prison experience	2015	2011	2007
Served time in prison	36.3 %	36.0 %	40.3 %
Number of times in prison			
1 time	44.4 %	41.1 %	65.8 %
2 times	22.2	30.4	29.4
3 times	13.7	11.9	
> 3 times	19.7	16.7	
Total time served in prison			
< 1 yr. to < 2 yrs	21.2 %	7.8 %	16.7 %
2 yrs. to < 5 yrs.	33.9	43.5	
5 yrs. to < 7 yrs.	15.3	26.2	
7 yrs. < 10 yrs.	11.0	10.1	
10 yrs. or more	18.6	12.5	
Not available.			

In 2015, former prisoners were more likely to report a felony person offense (54%) compared to 2011 (47%) and 2007 (20%). Felony property crime offenses dropped from 68% in 2007 to 33% in 2015. Of those who served time in prison, many said they participated in programming there: about one-third of 2015 jail inmates participated in résumé building, job search assistance, and parenting classes; about four in 10 participated in anger management, substance abuse programming, and GED classes.

Table 26: Prisoner characteristics

Prisoner characteristics	2015	2011	2007
Age when first in prison			
18-26	68.4 %	66.1 %	57.9 %
27-34	20.6	18.4	30.2
35-42	7.7	13.1	10.1
43 or older	3.4	2.4	1.8
Prison conviction offense			
Felony - Person	54.2 %	47.0 %	19.7 %
Felony - Property	33.1	34.5	68.4
Drug Offense	29.7	38.1	11.8
Probation/Parole violation	11.0	14.3	
DUI	2.5	10.7	
Other	15.3	1.8	
Prison programming			
Résumé building	35.0 %	31.9 %	
Job search	37.6	34.0	
Parenting	33.3	36.9	
Anger management	42.7	61.0	
Substance abuse programs	41.0		
GED	41.9		
Not available.			



FAMILY CRIMINAL HISTORY

The cycle of incarceration is not limited to individuals who are repeatedly involved in the criminal justice system, but also refers to criminal involvement that spans generations. About 40% of respondents to the 2015 survey had a father who was in jail at least once and 20% reported their father had spent time in prison; mothers were about half that rate—22% had a mother with jail time and 8% with prison time. More than half (58%) of respondents reported other members of their immediate family had spent some time incarcerated.

Table 27: Family incarceration history

Family incarceration	2015	2011	2007
Father spent time in jail	39.5 %	30.6 %	44.1 %
Number of times			
1 time	17.8 %	21.7 %	34.5 %
2-3 times	17.8	48.3	43.8
4-5 times	8.5	11.2	16.5
6-7 times	3.4	11.2	
More than 7 times	11.0	2.8	
Father spent time in prison	19.8 %	58.0 %	26.4 %
Number of times			
1 time	26.2 %	79.5 %	77.9 %
More than 1 time	44.2	20.5	22.2
Not sure	29.5		
Mother spent time in jail	21.5 %	18.2 %	18.9
Number of times			
1 time	42.4 %	61.2 %	43.9 %
2-3 times	16.7	36.5	44.9
4-5 times	4.5	0.0	
6-7 times	1.5	0.0	
More than 7 times	10.6	0.0	
Mother spent time in prison	8.3 %	31.8 %	5.8 %
Number of times			
1 time	29.2 %	96.3 %	100.0 %
More than 1 time	10.4	0.0	0.0
Not sure	60.4	3.7	0.0
Other family incarcerated	58.3 %	75.0 %	
Not available.			

Social Services

Data on the social services questions are not directly comparable to previous years. Prior surveys asked about social services requested or received by either the respondent or their families and it was unclear if the respondent was to answer for their household, immediate family, or extended family. For this reason, the questions were revised to specifically ask if the respondent had applied for or received certain services. Services are ranked by the percent of inmates who said they applied.

Most prevalent was the application for and receipt of food stamps—85% applied for, and 95% of applicants received, food stamps. The next most common service was the Oregon Health Plan. Just over one-third of respondents said they applied for housing assistance (not surprising, given that 38% reported they did not have a permanent residence at the time of arrest), and 39% received it. (This category was the lowest success rate among service applications and may be due to regulations among providers that either limit housing assistance to non-felons or prioritize those without a criminal history.)

Over one-third (35%) of inmates applied at some point for substance abuse treatment, and four out of five (82%) received it. Over one-quarter of inmates applied for cash assistance and mental health services (29% and 27%, respectively), and the majority received these services (71% and 74%, respectively).

Table 28: Social Services

	2015*	
Service type	Applied	Received
Food stamps	84.6 %	95.3 %
Oregon Health Plan	74.9	80.1
Housing assistance	35.7	38.7
Substance abuse treatment	35.0	81.8
Cash assistance	29.2	71.4
Mental health services	27.0	74.4
Marion County Health Department	23.2	89.9
Domestic violence services	14.8	55.8
Vocational rehabilitation services	14.3	51.2
Other program or service	12.3	52.8
Head Start or preschool programs	12.0	86.8
Child welfare	11.0	78.8
Child Care Subsidy	10.4	72.7
Women's clinic	8.6	92.0
Healthy Start or other home visit programs	5.1	80.0
Senior services	1.9	50.0
*Data not comparable to previous years.		



Disabilities, Medical Problems, and Mental Health Issues

Disabilities, medical problems, and mental health issues are all covered in this section. The percentage of inmates reporting these problems is higher than in the past—it is unclear if the prevalence of the problems is actually higher (which may be the case with medical issues among older inmates) or whether individuals are more likely to be forthcoming about these challenges disabilities and mental health issues) in recent years compared to the past (.

DISABILITIES

Four in 10 inmates reported a disability of some type, up from 28% in 2011 and 27% in 2007. Psychological disabilities were the most common (64% in 2015 compared to 11% in 2007), followed by medical (50% in 2015) and "other" (29% in 2015). Approximately 60% of respondents with a disability said they applied for disability benefits (down from 77% in 2011), and about half (48%) received benefits (down from 56% in 2011). About 82% of inmates with a disability reported that this disability interferes with their ability to find employment, down slightly from 87% in 2011.

Table 29: Disability prevalence and characteristics

Disability measures	2015	2011	2007
Reported a disability	41.3 %	27.8 %	26.9 %
Type of disability*			
Medical	50.4	36.9	62.5
Psychological	63.7	57.7	10.5
Other	28.9	5.4	27.0
Applied for disability benefits	59.7	76.9	76.3
Received disability benefits	49.4	56.4	23.3
Disability interferes with employment	81.5	86.9	

*Will not sum to 100% in 2015 because respondents could check more than one.
--Not available.

MEDICAL ISSUES

Nearly half (47%) of jail inmates in 2015 said they had some kind of medical problem, up more than 10% from 2011 and 2007 and higher than the 37% national rate among jail inmates found in 2002 (Maruschak, 2002). About 61% reported they had medical insurance or coverage, up from 14% in 2011 and 11% in 2007, likely attributable in part to the Affordable Care Act. More inmates reported being tested for AIDS/HIV and Hepatitis C in 2015 than in prior years, and 85% said they had been tested for tuberculosis (TB, not asked in previous surveys). About 11% of inmates who reported being tested for Hepatitis C and TB reported receiving treatment. (Note: Respondents were not asked if they ever tested positive for AIDS/HIV, Hepatitis C, or TB.)

Table 30: Medical problems, testing, and treatment

Medical measures	2015	2011	2007
Have a medical problem	47.0 %	34.5 %	31.2 %
Have medical coverage	60.7 %	13.9	11.0
Tested for AIDS/HIV	70.8	60.4	63.0
Treated for AIDS/HIV	3.1	4.5	0.0
Tested for Hepatitis C	63.9	48.4	56.3
Treated for Hepatitis C	10.9	9.9	0.7
Tested for tuberculosis	84.7		
Treated for tuberculosis	10.6		
Not available.			

The prevalence of specific medical problems is compared to findings from the Survey of Inmates of Local Jails in 2002 (Maruschak, 2006). It should be noted that the national jail population has likely aged since the 2002 survey (as has MCSO's population) and since medical issues are more prevalent among older people these comparisons are likely not directly comparable—still, this is the best information available at the time of the report.

Among the 47% of inmates reporting a medical problem, one quarter reported asthma and about one-fifth reported hepatitis and arthritis. About 11% of inmates reported hypertension, another 11% reported a different heart-related condition, and 10% had liver-related problems.

Table 31: Specific medical problems

Medical problems reported	2015	2002*	
Asthma	25.2 %	9.9 %	
Hepatitis	20.4	2.6	
Arthritis	21.1	12.9	
Hypertension	10.9	11.2	
Heart-related	10.9	5.9	
Liver-related	9.5	0.9	
Diabetes	7.5	2.7	
Kidney-related	5.4	3.7	
STD	4.1	0.9	
Cancer	3.4	0.7	
Paralysis	3.4	1.3	
Stroke	2.0	3.2	
Tuberculosis	1.4	4.3	
HIV	0.0	1.3	
*From Survey of Inmates in Local Jails (Maruschak, 2006).			



MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES

Over half of jail inmates (51%) in 2015 reported receiving a mental health diagnosis, up from 28% in 2011 and 18% in 2007. About 48% of all respondents in 2015 reported receiving mental health services (also up substantially from prior surveys), and 25% reported being hospitalized for a psychiatric condition.

Of those who said in 2015 that they received a diagnosis, the most common disorder was depression (34%) followed by anxiety (31%), post-traumatic stress (25%), and bipolar (20%). Notably, 77% of those reporting a diagnosis selected two or more options. Of those with a diagnosis, 80% said they received medication (compared to 26% in 2011); 38% were taking medication at the time of arrest and, of these, nearly half (46%) said they were able to continue their medications after arrest.

Table 32: Mental health history

Prior mental health measures	2015	2011	2007
Percent of inmates who ever -			
Received mental health services	48.3 %	27.8 %	18.3 %
Were hospitalized for psychiatric condition	24.5		
Were diagnosed with mental health condition	51.3	26.3	36.2
Diagnosis			
Depressive Disorder	34.3 %	22.8 %	26.5 %
Bipolar Disorder	19.6		
Bipolar - manic		18.7	10.3
Bipolar - depressive		14.6	23.5
Anxiety Disorder	30.8	17.9	12.3
Schizophrenia	14.3	1.6	2.0
Post-traumatic Stress Disorder	24.9	12.2	8.3
Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder	9.3		
Other	19.0	12.2	17.2
Two or more	77.2		
Received medication after diagnosis	79.2 %	25.5 %	
Taking medication at time of arrest	37.9		
Continue medication after admission	45.7		
Not available.			

About 56% of inmates said they have a current mental health problem (higher than the 51% with a diagnosis), about twice the rate reported in 2011. While this percent may seem high, it is consistent with findings in the 2002 jail survey, in which 64% of inmates in local jails either reported a history of any mental health condition or symptoms consistent with a current mental health condition (James & Glaze, 2006). Medical and mental health professionals have also worked very hard in recent years to reduce the social stigma associated with mental

health problems; part of the increase seen here could reflect a greater willingness to report these issues.

Of the 56% of inmates reporting a current mental health issue, depression (37%), anxiety (35%), post traumatic stress (28%), and bipolar (19%) disorders were again the most commonly reported. Of those inmates reporting an issue, 84% selected more than one option. Over one-fourth (28%) of all respondents said they would have access to mental health treatment after release in 2015 and 26% said they did not need treatment (despite the fact that 56% reported a current mental health problem).

Table 33: Current mental health issues

Current mental health measures	2015	2011	2007
Current mental health issue*	55.9 %	27.2 %	32.9 %
Issue*			
Depressive Disorder	37.2 %	29.9 %	25.4 %
Bipolar Disorder	18.6	13.4	10.8
Bipolar - manic		14.2	24.3
Bipolar - depressive		18.1	11.9
Anxiety Disorder	35.3	1.6	2.2
Schizophrenia	11.5	6.3	9.2
Post-traumatic Stress Disorder	28.2	7.9	13.5
Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder	9.3		
Other	17.3	8.7	2.7
Two or more	83.6		
Access to treatment after release			
Yes	27.6 %	11.6 %	
No	11.8	5.4	
Don't know	34.3	10.5	
Don't need treatment	26.3	72.6	

^{*}Survey did not specify diagnosis, so some may be reporting based on self-assessment. --Not available.



Alcohol and Drugs

Substance abuse and dependence is an issue that is common among those involved in the criminal justice system. Based on the most recent national jail survey, 47% of inmates reported symptoms in the year before their admission to jail consistent with alcohol dependence or abuse and 53% reported similar symptoms consistent with drug dependence or abuse (Karberg & James, 2005). Alcohol and drug use is also a factor in the commission of some crimes—among convicted jail inmates, 49% of those meeting dependence or abuse criteria reported using alcohol at the time of offense and 55% reported using drugs (Karberg & James, 2005). Of those inmates meeting dependence or abuse criteria, 63% reported participating in some type substance treatment program, including self-help groups and counseling, and 47% percent participated while under correctional supervision (including jail, prison, and community supervision) (Karberg & James, 2005).

ALCOHOL

In 2015, a lower percentage of inmates reported ever having a problem with alcohol—42% (compared to 63% in 2011 and 53% in 2007). Notably, 42% also reported attending treatment in the 2015 survey (though nearly one-third of these inmates said they never had a problem, not shown in the table), with 84% saying they successfully completed treatment. Only 13% reported a current problem with alcohol, down from 24% in 2011 and 82% in 2007. About 42% of respondents said their parents or guardians had an alcohol problem when they were growing up.

Table 34: Alcohol use and treatment

Alcohol measures	2015	2011	2007
Ever have problem with alcohol	42.0 %	62.5 %	52.9 %
Ever attended alcohol treatment	42.1	48.8	55.5
Successfully completed treatment	84.4	85.1	36.3
Current problem with alcohol	13.4	24.4	81.9
Parents/guardians had alcohol problem	42.1	43.7	
Not available.			

DRUGS

About half (51%) of inmates in the 2015 survey reported ever having a drug problem; 52% of inmates reported attending a treatment program with 77% successfully completing treatment. Despite having a successful treatment episode, 38% reported they currently have a drug problem and 37% reported detoxing in jail (though not necessarily in the current stay).

Nearly one-fifth (19%) of inmates reported a problem with prescription drugs, up from 12% in 2007. Seven in 10 inmates in 2015 reported using methamphetamines; 31% reported using heroin and, of these, 47% indicated they had a problem with heroin.

Table 35: Drug use and treatment			
Drug measures	2015	2011	2007
Ever have a drug problem*	51.2 %	49.0 %	62.1 %
Ever had problem with prescription drugs	19.4	15.9	12.2
Ever used methamphetamines	73.3	63.6	71.9
Ever used heroin	31.3	22.7	
Ever had a problem with heroin use	47.0		
Ever use the following to stop heroin use -			
Suboxone	19.0	26.4	
Subutex	15.0	5.7	
Naltrexone	3.0	4.7	
Methadone	16.0	24.5	
Ever attended drug treatment	51.8	34.9	49.3
Successfully completed treatment	76.6	73.0	30.6
Current drug problem	37.6	15.9	
Parents/guardians had a drug problem	30.1	38.8	
Ever detoxed in jail	36.8	15.2	
*Excludes methamphetamines			
Not available.			

Military Service

Approximately 9% of inmates reported serving in the military in 2015, mostly the Army (62%), Navy (31%), and Marines (7%). Length of service varied widely—about 28% served 3 years or less and 35% served 5 years or more. (Data on service length were not comparable to previous years due to different time categories). About four in five (82%) received an honorable discharge. Just over half (55%) of the veterans applied for benefits, and 56% received them. While a lower percentage of veterans applied for benefits in 2011 (35%), the rate of those receiving them was substantially higher (94%).

In 2015, about one-third of veterans (35%) reported being deployed to a combat area; about half of those in 2011 (71%). Among inmates who saw combat, most (70%) expressed difficulties in coping with their memories and indicated they needed help.



Table 36: Military service

Military service	2015	2011
Served in military	8.8 %	9.9 %
Branch of service		
Army (including National Guard/Reserve)	62.1 %	76.1 %
Navy (including Reserve)	31.0	2.2
Air Force (including Reserve)	0.0	4.4
Marine Corps (including Reserve)	6.9	17.4
Length of service		
<1 yr.	3.4 %	%
1-2 yrs.	13.8	
2-3 yrs.	10.3	
3-4 yrs.	24.1	
4-5 yrs.	13.8	
5-10 yrs.	20.7	
> 10 yrs.	13.8	
Received honorable discharge	82.1 %	89.1 %
Applied for Veteran benefits	55.2 %	34.8 %
Received Veteran benefits	56.3	93.8
Deployed to combat area	34.5	71.7
Recurring recollection of combat	70.0	81.8
Use alcohol/drugs to cope	70.0	
Need help dealing with these problems	70.0	45.5
Not available.		

Family Situation and Social Ties

This section briefly describes respondent childhood backgrounds and gang affiliation, as well as number of children, custody status, and information on where the children reside.

CHILDHOOD

The survey asked some brief background questions on respondent childhoods. Of the 77% of respondents whose parents were once married, 45% had divorced parents at the time of the survey. Nearly four in 10 had parents who divorced when they were under 5 years old and another third (35%) had parents who were divorced when the respondent was between ages 6 and 12.

Just over one-quarter (27%) had lived in a foster home at some point, slightly higher than results found in prior surveys. Length of time in foster care was less than 6 months for 25% and less than 1 year for about half (51%); just over one-quarter (26%) spent more than 3 years in foster care. Of those inmates ever in foster care, 47% rated the experience as bad or very bad, lower than in previous survey years.

Drawing on questions from the abuse and violence section of the survey, about one-third (34%) of respondents in 2015 reported being physically abused as a child.

Table 37: Childhood characteristics

Characteristics	2015	2011	2007
Parent were married	77.0 %	%	%
Parents divorced	45.4	42.6	48.1
Age when divorced			
< 5 yrs.	39.1 %	52.5 %	13.8 %
6-9 yrs.	21.8	23.7	18.7
10-12 yrs.	12.7	14.6	35.5
13-15 yrs.	9.1	5.1	25.0
16-18 yrs.	5.5	1.0	
> 18 yrs.	11.8	3.0	
Ever live in foster care	26.9 %	19.4 %	23.2 %
Length of time in foster care			
< 6 months	25.3 %	14.4 %	10.7 %
6-12 months	25.3	24.4	49.6
13-24 months	16.1	40.0	17.6
24-36 months	6.9	18.9	17.6
> 36 months	26.4	2.2	4.6
Foster home experience			
Very good/good	15.1 %	17.8 %	21.3 %
Average	38.4	23.3	20.6
Bad/very bad	46.5	58.9	58.0
Physically abused as a child	33.9	28.2	
Neglected as a child	29.9	32.0	
Not available.			

CHILDREN

Most of the literature on incarcerated parents is focused on individuals in prison, since time spent in prison is on average lengthier than that spent in jail (thus having a greater impact on financial and emotional support available for children), and prisons are often located further away from the last place of residence, which can make visitation challenging. Incarceration of a parent in jail, however, can substantially disrupt a child's life, particularly if they were living with that parent prior to arrest. Please note these data are not comparable to previous surveys since the 2015 survey did not limit responses to biological children (due to concerns over omitting other children who might live in the household, such as adopted children, children of a spouse/partner, etc.).

More than two-thirds (68%) of jail inmates said they were parents in 2015, more than in 2011 (58%). About 67% of men and 73% of women were parents (see tables in appendices). Among the 219 incarcerated parents reporting number of children (two parents did not report this



information), there were an estimated 594 children, an average of 2.7 children each (not shown in table). Approximately two-thirds (68%) of children were under 18. Less than half of parents (46%) said they lived with one or more children at the time of their arrest (accounting for about 31% of all reported children, including those over 18). Most inmates said their children were currently living with a spouse/partner (50%) and respondents indicated numerous other sources of support in raising their children, including grandparents (29%) and other relatives (30%).

Table 38: Information on children

Characteristics	2015	2011	2007
Has child(ren)	68.2 %	57.8 %	73.3 %
Percent of parents with children under 18	82.0		
Percent of children under 18	68.3		
Lived with at least one child prior to arrest	46.1		
Where are kids living now*			
Spouse/partner	50.0 %	57.3 %	82.1 %
Grandparent(s)	14.5	15.8	3.1
Foster home	7.3	7.7	5.6
Other relatives	9.5	6.0	1.7
Grown and on own	15.5	13.3	7.5
Other	16.8		
Support to help raise children			
Current spouse	25.8 %	57.4 %	
Former spouse	26.3	28.9	
Significant other	18.4	21.1	
Grandparent(s)	28.6	45.9	
Other relatives	29.5	35.2	
Friends	13.4	17.8	
Neighbors	2.3	5.6	
Social services	12.9	11.5	
Daycare/babysitter	7.4	6.3	
Pastor/faith-based connections	5.1	15.2	
Older children	4.6	4.8	
Other	16.1	6.7	
*Allowed for more than one answer in 2015 to account for	or multiple chi	ildren.	

30 July 2015

GANG MEMBERSHIP

Less than one-quarter (23%) of inmates reported gang involvement, slightly higher than in previous survey years (20% in 2011 and 18% in 2007). Among those respondents who said they had ever been involved in a gang, most were White (32%), Hispanic/Latino (30%), or two or more races (19%).

Table 39: Gang involvement

Gang affiliation	2015	2011	2007
Ever involved in gang	23.1 %	19.7 %	18.2 %
Race/ethnicity			
White	32.4 %		
Hispanic/Latino	29.7		
American Indian	8.1		
African American	8.1		
Asian	1.4		
Other*	1.4		
Two or more races	18.9		
Family who were gang members	21.6 %	16.1 %	
Not available.			

Domestic Violence and Other Physical and Sexual Abuse

The survey asked inmates about experiences with domestic violence, including being controlled, and verbally, physically, and sexually abused by a current or former partner. Results were compared to a national survey from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (Black et al., 2011) on recent and lifetime prevalence of abuse in the general population (see bolded text in table). While results may not be directly comparable due to different instrumentation, they offer context as to prevalence of rates of abuse in jail compared to the general population.

There are three main themes to note. First, rates of controlling behaviors and verbal, physical, and sexual abuse by current and former partners were high on many measures for both males and females. Second, rates were systematically higher for females compared to males across current and past partners (for example, the rate of females reporting forcible sexual activity by a recent partner was nearly 7 times the male rate). Third, rates of physical and sexual violence were substantially higher among the incarcerated population than in the general public, with the exception of lifetime sexual abuse rates for males. For example, the rate of recent physical abuse by an intimate partner for men in jail was nearly 7 times higher than males in the general population; for females in jail, the rate was over 13 times higher than females in the general population.



While substantial attention is given to the needs of female victims during incarceration, it is clear that males also have potential needs regarding abuse, trauma, and victimization.

Table 40: Domestic violence and other physical and sexual abuse

Current or most recent partner has controlled or tried to control daily activities 28.3 Ever had a partner control or try to control daily activities 39.6 Current or most recent partner told you that you were unattractive, stupid or dumb 21.5 Ever had a partner who told you that you were unattractive, stupid or dumb 32.2 Current or most recent partner has insulted or shamed you in front of others 29.3 Ever had a partner who insulted or shamed you in front of others 43.2 Current or most recent partner ever pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or otherwise hurt you 32.2	6 78.9 5 53.6 2 75.0 3 51.8 2 82.1 2 52.7	2.0 2.5 2.3 3 1.8 1.9
Ever had a partner control or try to control daily activities Current or most recent partner told you that you were unattractive, stupid or dumb Ever had a partner who told you that you were unattractive, stupid or dumb Current or most recent partner has insulted or shamed you in front of others Ever had a partner who insulted or shamed you in front of others Current or most recent partner ever pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or	6 78.9 5 53.6 2 75.0 3 51.8 2 82.1 2 52.7	2.0 2.5 2.3 3 1.8 1.9
Current or most recent partner told you that you were unattractive, stupid or dumb Ever had a partner who told you that you were unattractive, stupid or dumb Current or most recent partner has insulted or shamed you in front of others Ever had a partner who insulted or shamed you in front of others Current or most recent partner ever pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or	5 53.6 2 75.0 3 51.8 2 82.1 2 52.7	2.5 2.3 3 1.8 1.9
stupid or dumb Ever had a partner who told you that you were unattractive, stupid or dumb Current or most recent partner has insulted or shamed you in front of others Ever had a partner who insulted or shamed you in front of others Current or most recent partner ever pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or	2 75.0 3 51.8 2 82.1 2 52.7	2.3 3 1.8 1.9
or dumb Current or most recent partner has insulted or shamed you in front of others Ever had a partner who insulted or shamed you in front of others Current or most recent partner ever pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or	3 51.8 2 82.1 2 52.7	3 1.8 1.9
of others Ever had a partner who insulted or shamed you in front of others Current or most recent partner ever pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or	2 82.1 2 52.7	1.9
Current or most recent partner ever pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or	2 52.7	
		' 1.6
•	7 4.0	
CDC intimate partner physical violence in last 12 months 4.7		0.9
Ever had a partner who pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or otherwise		
hurt you 42.0	0 87.5	2.1
CDC intimate partner physical violence in lifetime 28.2	2 32.9	1.2
Current or most recent partner ever caused you to miss work or school because of injuries or upset caused by violence 16.3	3 36.8	3 2.3
Ever had a partner who caused you to miss work or school because of injuries or upset caused by violence 19.3	3 60.7	3.1
Current or most recent partner ever forced you to have sexual activities 4.7	7 32.1	6.8
CDC intimate partner sexual violence in last 12 months 2.5	5 2.9	1.2
Ever had a partner who forced you to have sexual activities 8.5	5 50.0	5.9
CDC intimate partner sexual violence in lifetime 8.0	0 26.3	3.3
Afraid for your safety while in jail 15.5	5 8.9	0.6
Afraid for the safety of your children now 12.6	6 9.6	0.8
Afraid for your safety when you are released 10.1	1 22.8	3 2.3
Physically abused as a child 30.2	2 52.6	5 1.7
Neglected as a child 29.2	2 35.1	1.2
Ever been a victim of sexual abuse 19.3	3 76.8	3 4.0
CDC sexual violence in lifetime 23.6	6 62.9	2.7
Ever witnessed domestic violence between your parents or between one of your parents and his/her partner 40.2	2 55.4	1.4
*Calculated as female percent/male percent. (e.g., females reported a		1.4
controlling current/recent partner at a rate 1.7 times the male rate.)		
Note: CDC estimates from Black et al., 2011.		

32 July 2015

Programming and Service Needs

Inmates were asked about the reasons for their current incarceration, how they could reduce the likelihood of returning to jail, and what services for themselves and their families they deemed most important in the short term.

REASONS FOR INCARCERATION

When asked what the primary reason for their current incarceration was, most respondents (38%) selected the "bad choices" option. About 24% selected drug use, followed by probation violation (12%), homelessness (11%), and alcohol use (10%). Interestingly, although 49% were unemployed at the time of arrest, only 7% attributed their current incarceration to unemployment.

Table 41: Reasons for incarceration

more than 1 option.

Main reason in jail today -			
Bad choices	38.3 %		
Drug use	24.3		
Violating probation	12.2		
Homelessness	10.7		
Alcohol use	10.1		
Lack of mental health services	8.6		
Unemployment	6.8		
Violating a judge's order	2.7		
Lack of legal assistance	3.9		
No reintegration assistance	3.3		
Note: Sums to more than 100% because some respondents chose			



REDUCING RECIDIVISM AND REENTRY NEEDS

Jail inmates were also asked for ways they could stay out of jail (they could mark multiple responses). Most respondents said they needed to find a job (41%). The next most popular category was the response that they would not return to jail (39%); it is notable that of these inmates, 42% also reported they had been in jail at least twice in the last year. Other common answers were to stop using drugs (35%), though only 28% thought substance abuse treatment would be helpful. Also noteworthy is that 26% claimed they needed better access to mental health services, though a third as many (9%) attributed their current stay to a lack of mental health services.

Table 42: How to stay out of jail?

Table 42. How to stay out of Jail:					
How could your chances of staying out of jail be increased?					
Find a job	41.4 %				
I will not return to jail	39.1				
Stop using drugs	34.9				
Obtain driver's license	34.6				
Find a place to live	34.3				
Substance abuse treatment	27.5				
Better access to mental health services	26.3				
Better relationship choices	25.1				
Education opportunities	24.6				
Get record expunged	23.4				
Stop using alcohol	19.2				
Anger control	16.9				
Take medication as prescribed	15.4				
Better access to medical care	14.5				
Resolve child custody issue(s)	13.0				

34 July 2015

Respondents were also asked to rank the three most important services that would help them and their families in the short term. Unfortunately, the survey question was unclear and few inmates answered the question as intended—many instead used the same number(s) multiple times (marking several options as 1, "the most important") or ranked all the answers. For this reason, the data in Table 43 below represent the percent of inmates who selected the answer option at all and should be interpreted with great caution (rather than a ranked list of desired services, it is more representative of a mass wish list). Three-quarters (75%) said they needed assistance finding a job, followed by housing assistance (70%) and food (53%). Half (50%) said they needed substance abuse treatment (though only 28% said they thought they needed such treatment to stay out of jail).

Table 43: Reentry needs -

Tuble 43. Recitify fields	
Need for assistance in short term for -	
Employment	74.5 %
Housing	69.5
Food	53.4
Substance abuse treatment	50.4
Mental health care	49.6
Education	49.6
Financial assistance	49.6
Medical care	48.4
Legal assistance	42.2
Childcare assistance	37.5

Summary

The MCSO jail and work release center has a population with characteristics that are typical of jail populations across the nation. The individuals face challenges with housing, employment, substance abuse, medical and mental health needs, and physical and sexual abuse histories that are generally greater than that seen in the general population. Jails have a small window of time to address these issues and cannot practically provide all the services needed. While reentry program often focus on the transition from prison to the community, there are some that are jail- specific. Initiatives to improve services both within the jail and following release are underway in programs such as the Transition from Jail to Community (TJC) sponsored by National Institute of Corrections (see here for more information about this and other reentry programs: http://nicic.gov/jailtransition. Another initiative underway is for jails to gain access to county and state-level medical and mental health records to streamline the assessment process and minimize the period in which incoming inmates go without necessary medications (Butler, 2014). Both training and services have made great advances within corrections in recent decades, and research on evidence-based practices will continue to evolve the assessment, care, and services provided to inmates.

REFERENCES

- Bennett, D. M., & Lattin, D. (2009). *Jail Capacity Planning Guide: A Systems Approach*. U.S. Department of Justice, National Institute of Corrections. Washington, DC NCJ 245959.
- Black, M. C., Basile, K. C., Breiding, M. J., Smith, S. G., Walters, M. L., Merrick, M. T., Chen, J., & Stevens, M. R. (2011). *The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS): 2010 Summary Report*. Atlanta, GA: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Blumstein, A. J. & Nakamura, K. (2009). 'Redemption' in an Era of Widespread Criminal Background Checks. U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Program, Naitonal Institute of Justice. Washington, DC NCJ 226872.
- Butler, B. (2014). Health Information Exchanges between Jails and Their Communities: A Bridge That Is Needed Under Healthcare Reform. Perspectives in Health Information Management: 1-6.
- James, D. J. (2004). *Profile of Jail Inmates, 2002*. U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Program, Bureau of Justice Statistics. Washington, DC
- James, D. J., & Glaze, L. E. (2006). Mental Health Problems of Prison and Jail Inmates. U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Program, Bureau of Justice Statistics. Washington, DC NCJ 213600.
- Karberg, J. C., & James, D. J. (2005). Substance Dependence, Abuse, and Treatment of Jail Inmates, 2002. U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Program, Bureau of Justice Statistics. Washington, DC NCJ 209588.
- Lauritsen, J. L. & White, N. (2014). Seasonal Patterns in Criminal Victimization Trends. U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Program, Bureau of Justice Statistics. Washington, DC NCJ 245959.
- Maruschak, L. M. (2006). *Medical Problems of Jail Inmates*. U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Program, Bureau of Justice Statistics. Washington, DC NCJ 210696.
- Minton, T. D., & Zeng, Z. (2015). *Jail Inmates at Midyear 2014*. U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Program, Bureau of Justice Statistics. Washington, DC NCJ 248629.
- Vallas, R. & Dietrich S. (2014). One Strike and You're Out: How We Can Eliminate Barriers to Economic Security and Mobility for People with Criminal Records. Center for American Progress.

APPENDIX A: SURVEY ITEM FREQUENCIES

Following are frequency distributions for all survey items. For some distributions, results were filtered to those inmates who answered "yes" to an earlier question (this distinction can be most easily detected by looking at the sample sizes [n's]). The number of missing responses for each question is listed, as well as "percent," to see what percent of respondents did not answer specific questions. The report uses "valid percent" columns from the distributions below, which exclude missing responses. Cumulative percents are also listed in the event one wants to use answer option cutpoints to view the data. For example, that 90.8% of inmates were 50 or younger.

Facility

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Jail	271	79.5	79.5	79.5
	Work release	70	20.5	20.5	100.0
	Total	341	100.0	100.0	

Sex

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Male	278	81.5	82.5	82.5
	Female	59	17.3	17.5	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Age categories

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	18	3	.9	.9	.9
	19-22	30	8.8	9.2	10.1
	23-26	61	17.9	18.7	28.7
	27-30	42	12.3	12.8	41.6
	31-34	50	14.7	15.3	56.9
	35-38	34	10.0	10.4	67.3
	39-42	41	12.0	12.5	79.8
	43-46	21	6.2	6.4	86.2
	47-50	15	4.4	4.6	90.8
	51-54	15	4.4	4.6	95.4
	55-58	7	2.1	2.1	97.6
	Over 58	8	2.3	2.4	100.0
	Total	327	95.9	100.0	
Missing	System	14	4.1		
Total		341	100.0		

African American only

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	314	92.1	94.0	94.0
	Yes	20	5.9	6.0	100.0
	Total	334	97.9	100.0	
Missing	System	7	2.1		
Total		341	100.0		

American Indian only

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	322	94.4	96.4	96.4
	Yes	12	3.5	3.6	100.0
	Total	334	97.9	100.0	
Missing	System	7	2.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Asian only

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	332	97.4	99.4	99.4
	Yes	2	.6	.6	100.0
	Total	334	97.9	100.0	
Missing	System	7	2.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Hispanic/Latino only

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	263	77.1	78.7	78.7
	Yes	71	20.8	21.3	100.0
	Total	334	97.9	100.0	
Missing	System	7	2.1		
Total		341	100.0		

White only

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	159	46.6	47.6	47.6
	Yes	175	51.3	52.4	100.0
	Total	334	97.9	100.0	
Missing	System	7	2.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Other race only

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	323	94.7	96.7	96.7
	Yes	11	3.2	3.3	100.0
	Total	334	97.9	100.0	
Missing	System	7	2.1		
Total		341	100.0		

More than one race

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	296	86.8	87.3	87.3
	Yes	43	12.6	12.7	100.0
	Total	339	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	2	.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Russian

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	335	98.2	98.8	98.8
	Yes	4	1.2	1.2	100.0
	Total	339	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	2	.6		
Total		341	100.0		

U.S. Citizen

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	25	7.3	7.9	7.9
	Yes	290	85.0	92.1	100.0
	Total	315	92.4	100.0	
Missing	System	26	7.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Marital Status

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Married	57	16.7	17.1	17.1
	Single	173	50.7	51.8	68.9
	Divorced	57	16.7	17.1	85.9
	Separated	24	7.0	7.2	93.1
	Widowed	4	1.2	1.2	94.3
	Other	19	5.6	5.7	100.0
	Total	334	97.9	100.0	
Missing	System	7	2.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Education (Years completed)

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Less than 8th grade	18	5.3	5.3	5.3
	8th grade	8	2.3	2.4	7.7
	9th grade	24	7.0	7.1	14.8
	10th grade	26	7.6	7.7	22.6
	11th grade	56	16.4	16.6	39.2
	12th grade	96	28.2	28.5	67.7
	1 yr. college	50	14.7	14.8	82.5
	2 yrs. college	36	10.6	10.7	93.2
	3 yrs. college	9	2.6	2.7	95.8
	4 yrs. college	2	.6	.6	96.4
	More than 4 yrs. college	12	3.5	3.6	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Education in years (completed), collapsed

		Valid					
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent		
Valid	8 yrs. or less	26	7.6	7.7	7.7		
	9-11 yrs.	106	31.1	31.5	39.2		
	12 yrs.	96	28.2	28.5	67.7		
	1 yr. college	50	14.7	14.8	82.5		
	2 yrs. college	36	10.6	10.7	93.2		
	3 or more yrs. college	23	6.7	6.8	100.0		
	Total	337	98.8	100.0			
Missing	System	4	1.2				
Total		341	100.0				

High school graduate

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	206	60.4	61.7	61.7
	Yes	128	37.5	38.3	100.0
	Total	334	97.9	100.0	
Missing	System	7	2.1		
Total		341	100.0		

GED

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	110	32.3	32.8	32.8
	No	97	28.4	29.0	61.8
	N/A - HS grad	128	37.5	38.2	100.0
	Total	335	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	6	1.8		
Total		341	100.0		

GED received at -

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Community college	58	44.3	46.4	46.4
	While incarcerated	41	31.3	32.8	79.2
	Other	26	19.8	20.8	100.0
	Total	125	95.4	100.0	
Missing	System	6	4.6		
Total		131	100.0		

Primary language

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	English	263	77.1	86.5	86.5
	Spanish	37	10.9	12.2	98.7
	Other	4	1.2	1.3	100.0
	Total	304	89.1	100.0	
Missing	System	37	10.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Speak English

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	10	2.9	3.0	3.0
	Yes	318	93.3	97.0	100.0
	Total	328	96.2	100.0	
Missing	System	13	3.8		
Total		341	100.0		

Write English

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	15	4.4	4.7	4.7
	Yes	305	89.4	95.3	100.0
	Total	320	93.8	100.0	
Missing	System	21	6.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Read English

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	11	3.2	3.4	3.4
	Yes	308	90.3	96.6	100.0
	Total	319	93.5	100.0	
Missing	System	22	6.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Speak Spanish

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	168	49.3	59.2	59.2
	Yes	116	34.0	40.8	100.0
	Total	284	83.3	100.0	
Missing	System	57	16.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Write Spanish

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	207	60.7	74.2	74.2
	Yes	72	21.1	25.8	100.0
	Total	279	81.8	100.0	
Missing	System	62	18.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Read Spanish

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	196	57.5	69.8	69.8
	Yes	85	24.9	30.2	100.0
	Total	281	82.4	100.0	
Missing	System	60	17.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Oregon resident

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	17	5.0	5.1	5.1
	Yes	319	93.5	94.9	100.0
	Total	336	98.5	100.0	
Missing	System	5	1.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Length of time in Oregon

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	less than 6 months	3	.9	.9	.9
	6 mons. – 1 yr.	3	.9	.9	1.9
	1 yr. – 5 yrs.	24	7.5	7.5	9.4
	6 – 10 yrs.	18	5.6	5.7	15.1
	11 – 15 yrs.	41	12.9	12.9	28.0
	16 – 20 yrs.	33	10.3	10.4	38.4
	More than 20 yrs.	196	61.4	61.6	100.0
	Total	318	99.7	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.3		
Total		319	100.0		

Other family members in Oregon

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	32	9.4	9.6	9.6
	Yes	300	88.0	90.4	100.0
	Total	332	97.4	100.0	
Missing	System	9	2.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Have permanent address in Marion County

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	68	19.9	20.7	20.7
	Yes	260	76.2	79.3	100.0
	Total	328	96.2	100.0	
Missing	System	13	3.8		
Total		341	100.0		

Marion County community

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Salem	177	68.1	68.6	68.6
	Keizer	21	8.1	8.1	76.7
	Woodburn	17	6.5	6.6	83.3
	Mt. Angel	1	.4	.4	83.7
	Silverton	9	3.5	3.5	87.2
	Other	33	12.7	12.8	100.0
	Total	258	99.2	100.0	
Missing	System	2	.8		
Total		260	100.0		

Ever denied place to live because of criminal record

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	182	53.4	54.5	54.5
	Yes	152	44.6	45.5	100.0
	Total	334	97.9	100.0	
Missing	System	7	2.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever had a permanent place to live

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	53	15.5	15.9	15.9
	Yes	281	82.4	84.1	100.0
	Total	334	97.9	100.0	
Missing	System	7	2.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Permanent place to live just before current arrest

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	127	37.2	37.9	37.9
	Yes	208	61.0	62.1	100.0
	Total	335	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	6	1.8		
Total		341	100.0		

Permanent place to live after release

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	164	48.1	49.1	49.1
	Yes	170	49.9	50.9	100.0
	Total	334	97.9	100.0	
Missing	System	7	2.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever experienced homelessness

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	102	29.9	30.4	30.4
	Yes	234	68.6	69.6	100.0
	Total	336	98.5	100.0	
Missing	System	5	1.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Homeless just before current arrest

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	108	46.2	46.6	46.6
	Yes	124	53.0	53.4	100.0
	Total	232	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	2	.9		
Total		234	100.0		

Number of times homeless

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Once	57	24.4	24.7	24.7
	Twice	50	21.4	21.6	46.3
	Three times	26	11.1	11.3	57.6
	More than 3 times	98	41.9	42.4	100.0
	Total	231	98.7	100.0	
Missing	System	3	1.3		
Total		234	100.0		

Longest period of homelessness

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	less than 30 days	21	9.0	9.1	9.1
	30 – 60 days	32	13.7	13.9	22.9
	61 – 90 days	25	10.7	10.8	33.8
	91 – 120 days	20	8.5	8.7	42.4
	121 – 180 days	17	7.3	7.4	49.8
	181 days – 1 yr.	19	8.1	8.2	58.0
	More than 1 yr.	97	41.5	42.0	100.0
	Total	231	98.7	100.0	
Missing	System	3	1.3		
Total		234	100.0		

Alone while homeless

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	85	36.3	37.3	37.3
	Yes	143	61.1	62.7	100.0
	Total	228	97.4	100.0	
Missing	System	6	2.6		
Total		234	100.0		

Reason for homelessness - unemployment

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	148	63.2	63.2	63.2
	Yes	86	36.8	36.8	100.0
	Total	234	100.0	100.0	

Reason for homelessness - substance abuse

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	141	60.3	60.3	60.3
	Yes	93	39.7	39.7	100.0
	Total	234	100.0	100.0	

Reason for homelessness - jail/prison record

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	172	73.5	73.5	73.5
	Yes	62	26.5	26.5	100.0
	Total	234	100.0	100.0	

Reason for homelessness - mental health issues

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	194	82.9	82.9	82.9
	Yes	40	17.1	17.1	100.0
	Total	234	100.0	100.0	

Reason for homelessness - other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	181	77.4	77.4	77.4
	Yes	53	22.6	22.6	100.0
	Total	234	100.0	100.0	

Employed prior to current arrest

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	168	49.3	50.8	50.8
	Yes	163	47.8	49.2	100.0
	Total	331	97.1	100.0	
Missing	System	10	2.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Steady employment prior to current arrest

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	27	16.6	17.2	17.2
	Yes	130	79.8	82.8	100.0
	Total	157	96.3	100.0	
Missing	System	6	3.7		
Total		163	100.0		

Job duration

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	less than 6 months	43	26.4	26.5	26.5
	6 mons. – less than 1 yr.	27	16.6	16.7	43.2
	1 yr. – less than 2 yrs.	24	14.7	14.8	58.0
	2 yrs. – less than 3 yrs.	14	8.6	8.6	66.7
	3 yrs. – less than 5 yrs.	20	12.3	12.3	79.0
	5 or more yrs.	34	20.9	21.0	100.0
	Total	162	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		163	100.0		

Labor only

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	159	97.5	98.1	98.1
	Yes	3	1.8	1.9	100.0
	Total	162	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		163	100.0		

Construction only

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	155	95.1	95.7	95.7
	Yes	7	4.3	4.3	100.0
	Total	162	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		163	100.0		

Service only

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	161	98.8	99.4	99.4
	Yes	1	.6	.6	100.0
	Total	162	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		163	100.0		

Sales only

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	161	98.8	99.4	99.4
	Yes	1	.6	.6	100.0
	Total	162	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		163	100.0		

Office only

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	162	99.4	100.0	100.0
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		163	100.0		

Agriculture only

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	154	94.5	95.1	95.1
	Yes	8	4.9	4.9	100.0
	Total	162	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		163	100.0		

Other only

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	160	98.2	98.8	98.8
	Yes	2	1.2	1.2	100.0
	Total	162	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		163	100.0		

Multiple jobs

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	22	13.5	13.6	13.6
	Yes	140	85.9	86.4	100.0
	Total	162	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		163	100.0		

Income per month before most recent arrest

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	\$1 – \$499	20	12.3	12.4	12.4
	\$500 - \$1,000	38	23.3	23.6	36.0
	\$1,001 - \$1,500	36	22.1	22.4	58.4
	\$1,501 - \$2,000	24	14.7	14.9	73.3
	\$2,001 - \$2,500	15	9.2	9.3	82.6
	\$2,501 - \$3,000	9	5.5	5.6	88.2
	More than \$3,000	19	11.7	11.8	100.0
	Total	161	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	2	1.2		
Total		163	100.0		

Ever received paid benefits from job

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	160	46.9	49.4	49.4
	Yes	164	48.1	50.6	100.0
	Total	324	95.0	100.0	
Missing	System	17	5.0		
Total		341	100.0		

Employer-provided medical coverage

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	23	14.0	14.1	14.1
	Yes	140	85.4	85.9	100.0
	Total	163	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		164	100.0		

Employer-provided vacation time

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	38	23.2	23.8	23.8
	Yes	122	74.4	76.3	100.0
	Total	160	97.6	100.0	
Missing	System	4	2.4		
Total		164	100.0		

Employer-provided coverage - other benefits

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	31	18.9	19.5	19.5
	Yes	128	78.0	80.5	100.0
	Total	159	97.0	100.0	
Missing	System	5	3.0		
Total		164	100.0		

Employment following release

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	196	57.5	60.3	60.3
	Yes	101	29.6	31.1	91.4
	3	28	8.2	8.6	100.0
	Total	325	95.3	100.0	
Missing	System	16	4.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Steady employment following release

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	14	13.9	13.9	13.9
	Yes	87	86.1	86.1	100.0
	Total	101	100.0	100.0	

Employment - former employer promise

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	69	68.3	68.3	68.3
	Yes	32	31.7	31.7	100.0
	Total	101	100.0	100.0	

Employment - family arrangement

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	56	55.4	55.4	55.4
	Yes	45	44.6	44.6	100.0
	Total	101	100.0	100.0	

Employment - other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	95	94.1	94.1	94.1
	Yes	6	5.9	5.9	100.0
	Total	101	100.0	100.0	

Future job classification - Labor

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	72	71.3	71.3	71.3
	Yes	29	28.7	28.7	100.0
	Total	101	100.0	100.0	

Future job classification - Construction

-				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	67	66.3	66.3	66.3
	Yes	34	33.7	33.7	100.0
	Total	101	100.0	100.0	

Future job classification - Service

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	62	61.4	61.4	61.4
	Yes	39	38.6	38.6	100.0
	Total	101	100.0	100.0	

Future job classification - Sales

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	61	60.4	60.4	60.4
	Yes	40	39.6	39.6	100.0
	Total	101	100.0	100.0	

Future job classification - Office/clerical

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	99	98.0	98.0	98.0
	Yes	2	2.0	2.0	100.0
	Total	101	100.0	100.0	

Future job classification - Agriculture

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	88	87.1	87.1	87.1
	Yes	13	12.9	12.9	100.0
	Total	101	100.0	100.0	

Job classification - Other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	86	85.1	85.1	85.1
	Yes	15	14.9	14.9	100.0
	Total	101	100.0	100.0	

Anticipated income after release

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	\$1 – \$499	12	11.9	12.6	12.6
	\$500 - \$1,000	26	25.7	27.4	40.0
	\$1,001 - \$1,500	23	22.8	24.2	64.2
	\$1,501 - \$2,000	12	11.9	12.6	76.8
	\$2,001 - \$2,500	5	5.0	5.3	82.1
	\$2,501 - \$3,000	6	5.9	6.3	88.4
	More than \$3,000	11	10.9	11.6	100.0
	Total	95	94.1	100.0	
Missing	System	6	5.9		
Total		101	100.0		

Ever denied employment because of criminal record

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	132	38.7	42.0	42.0
	Yes	182	53.4	58.0	100.0
	Total	314	92.1	100.0	
Missing	System	27	7.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Military service

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	299	87.7	91.2	91.2
	Yes	29	8.5	8.8	100.0
	Total	328	96.2	100.0	
Missing	System	13	3.8		
Total		341	100.0		

Branch of service - Army (including National Guard or Reserve)

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	11	37.9	37.9	37.9
	Yes	18	62.1	62.1	100.0
	Total	29	100.0	100.0	

Branch of service - Navy (including Reserve)

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	20	69.0	69.0	69.0
	Yes	9	31.0	31.0	100.0
	Total	29	100.0	100.0	

Branch of service - Marine Corps (including Reserve)

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	27	93.1	93.1	93.1
	Yes	2	6.9	6.9	100.0
	Total	29	100.0	100.0	

Branch of service - Air Force (including Reserve)

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	29	100.0	100.0	100.0

Branch of service - Coast Guard (including Reserve)

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	29	100.0	100.0	100.0

Branch of service - Other

-				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	29	100.0	100.0	100.0

Length of military service

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	less than 1 yr.	1	3.4	3.4	3.4
	1 – 2 yrs.	4	13.8	13.8	17.2
	2 – 3 yrs.	3	10.3	10.3	27.6
	3 – 4 yrs.	7	24.1	24.1	51.7
	4 – 5 yrs.	4	13.8	13.8	65.5
	5 – 10 yrs.	6	20.7	20.7	86.2
	More than 10 yrs.	4	13.8	13.8	100.0
	Total	29	100.0	100.0	

Received honorable discharge

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	5	17.2	17.9	17.9
	Yes	23	79.3	82.1	100.0
	Total	28	96.6	100.0	
Missing	System	1	3.4		
Total		29	100.0		

Ever applied for veteran benefits

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	13	44.8	44.8	44.8
	Yes	16	55.2	55.2	100.0
	Total	29	100.0	100.0	

Ever received veteran benefits

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	7	43.8	43.8	43.8
	Yes	9	56.3	56.3	100.0
	Total	16	100.0	100.0	

Ever deployed to a combat area

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	19	65.5	65.5	65.5
	Yes	10	34.5	34.5	100.0
	Total	29	100.0	100.0	

Ever have recurring/distressing recollections of combat experiences

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	3	30.0	30.0	30.0
	Yes	7	70.0	70.0	100.0
	Total	10	100.0	100.0	

Ever use alcohol/drugs to reduce or eliminate recollections of events

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	3	30.0	30.0	30.0
	Yes	7	70.0	70.0	100.0
	Total	10	100.0	100.0	

Need assistance in dealing with problems related to military experience

-				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	3	30.0	30.0	30.0
	Yes	7	70.0	70.0	100.0
	Total	10	100.0	100.0	

Ever arrested as a juvenile

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	164	48.1	48.8	48.8
	Yes	172	50.4	51.2	100.0
	Total	336	98.5	100.0	
Missing	System	5	1.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Age when arrested as a juvenile

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	12 or younger	46	26.7	26.9	26.9
	13	29	16.9	17.0	43.9
	14	26	15.1	15.2	59.1
	15	27	15.7	15.8	74.9
	16	25	14.5	14.6	89.5
	17	18	10.5	10.5	100.0
	Total	171	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		172	100.0		

Ever under supervision of juvenile supervision

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	39	22.7	22.8	22.8
	Yes	132	76.7	77.2	100.0
	Total	171	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		172	100.0		

Ever placed in juvenile detention

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	40	23.3	23.4	23.4
	Yes	131	76.2	76.6	100.0
	Total	171	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		172	100.0		

Ever committed to Oregon Youth Authority (OYA)

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	118	68.6	70.2	70.2
	Yes	50	29.1	29.8	100.0
	Total	168	97.7	100.0	
Missing	System	4	2.3		
Total		172	100.0		

Ever convicted of a Measure 11 offense as a juvenile

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	305	89.4	97.1	97.1
	Yes	9	2.6	2.9	100.0
	Total	314	92.1	100.0	
Missing	System	27	7.9		
Total		341	100.0		

In jail waiting for court

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	153	44.9	46.5	46.5
	Yes	176	51.6	53.5	100.0
	Total	329	96.5	100.0	
Missing	System	12	3.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Current charge - Misdemeanor/Person

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	137	77.8	78.3	78.3
	Yes	38	21.6	21.7	100.0
	Total	175	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		176	100.0		

Current charge - Misdemeanor/Property

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	155	88.1	88.6	88.6
	Yes	20	11.4	11.4	100.0
	Total	175	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		176	100.0		

Current charge - Misdemeanor/Other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	153	86.9	87.4	87.4
	Yes	22	12.5	12.6	100.0
	Total	175	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		176	100.0		

Current charge - Felony/Person

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	126	71.6	72.0	72.0
	Yes	49	27.8	28.0	100.0
	Total	175	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		176	100.0		

Current charge - Felony/Property

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	143	81.3	81.7	81.7
	Yes	32	18.2	18.3	100.0
	Total	175	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		176	100.0		

Current charge - Drug offense

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	137	77.8	78.3	78.3
	Yes	38	21.6	21.7	100.0
	Total	175	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		176	100.0		

Current charge - Probation/parole violation

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	139	79.0	79.4	79.4
	Yes	36	20.5	20.6	100.0
	Total	175	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		176	100.0		

Current charge - DUI

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	168	95.5	96.0	96.0
	Yes	7	4.0	4.0	100.0
	Total	175	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		176	100.0		

Current charge - Other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	148	84.1	84.6	84.6
	Yes	27	15.3	15.4	100.0
	Total	175	99.4	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.6		
Total		176	100.0		

Serving a jail sentence

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	138	40.5	44.7	44.7
	Yes	171	50.1	55.3	100.0
	Total	309	90.6	100.0	
Missing	System	32	9.4		
Total		341	100.0		

Jail sentence - Misdemeanor/Person

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	132	77.2	79.0	79.0
	Yes	35	20.5	21.0	100.0
	Total	167	97.7	100.0	
Missing	System	4	2.3		
Total		171	100.0		

Jail sentence - Misdemeanor/Property

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	152	88.9	91.0	91.0
	Yes	15	8.8	9.0	100.0
	Total	167	97.7	100.0	
Missing	System	4	2.3		
Total		171	100.0		

Jail sentence - Misdemeanor/Other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	118	69.0	70.7	70.7
	Yes	49	28.7	29.3	100.0
	Total	167	97.7	100.0	
Missing	System	4	2.3		
Total		171	100.0		

Jail sentence - Drug offense

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	128	74.9	76.6	76.6
	Yes	39	22.8	23.4	100.0
	Total	167	97.7	100.0	
Missing	System	4	2.3		
Total		171	100.0		

Jail sentence - Probation/parole violation

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	102	59.6	61.1	61.1
	Yes	65	38.0	38.9	100.0
	Total	167	97.7	100.0	
Missing	System	4	2.3		
Total		171	100.0		

Jail sentence - DUI

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	148	86.5	88.6	88.6
	Yes	19	11.1	11.4	100.0
	Total	167	97.7	100.0	
Missing	System	4	2.3		
Total		171	100.0		

Jail sentence length

		Valid			
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1 – 10 days	2	1.2	1.2	1.2
	11 – 20 days	16	9.4	9.9	11.2
	21 – 30 days	28	16.4	17.4	28.6
	31 – 60 days	27	15.8	16.8	45.3
	61 – 90 days	19	11.1	11.8	57.1
	91 – 120 days	14	8.2	8.7	65.8
	121 – 180 days	23	13.5	14.3	80.1
	More than 180 days	32	18.7	19.9	100.0
	Total	161	94.2	100.0	
Missing	System	10	5.8		
Total		171	100.0		

Length of time in jail for current incarceration

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1 – 10 days	62	18.2	18.9	18.9
	11 – 20 days	53	15.5	16.2	35.1
	21 – 30 days	30	8.8	9.1	44.2
	31 – 60 days	59	17.3	18.0	62.2
	61 – 90 days	39	11.4	11.9	74.1
	91 – 120 days	22	6.5	6.7	80.8
	121 – 180 days	22	6.5	6.7	87.5
	More than 180 days	41	12.0	12.5	100.0
	Total	328	96.2	100.0	
Missing	System	13	3.8		
Total		341	100.0		

Number of times in jail

		Valid					
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent		
Valid	First time	43	12.6	12.8	12.8		
	2 – 3 times	69	20.2	20.6	33.4		
	4 – 5 times	48	14.1	14.3	47.8		
	6 – 7 times	33	9.7	9.9	57.6		
	8 – 9 times	15	4.4	4.5	62.1		
	10 or more times	127	37.2	37.9	100.0		
	Total	335	98.2	100.0			
Missing	System	6	1.8				
Total		341	100.0				

Number of times sentenced to serve time in jail

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Never	65	19.1	19.4	19.4
	1 time	51	15.0	15.2	34.6
	2 times	48	14.1	14.3	49.0
	3 times	31	9.1	9.3	58.2
	4 times	21	6.2	6.3	64.5
	5 times	24	7.0	7.2	71.6
	More than 5 times	95	27.9	28.4	100.0
	Total	335	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	6	1.8		
Total		341	100.0		

Number of time jail in past 12 months

		Valid					
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent		
Valid	First time	143	41.9	43.7	43.7		
	2 times	73	21.4	22.3	66.1		
	3 times	34	10.0	10.4	76.5		
	4 times	24	7.0	7.3	83.8		
	5 times	6	1.8	1.8	85.6		
	More than 5 times	47	13.8	14.4	100.0		
	Total	327	95.9	100.0			
Missing	System	14	4.1				
Total		341	100.0				

Currently on probation

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	171	50.1	51.7	51.7
	Yes	160	46.9	48.3	100.0
	Total	331	97.1	100.0	
Missing	System	10	2.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Have probation officer

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	30	18.8	19.1	19.1
	Yes	127	79.4	80.9	100.0
	Total	157	98.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	1.9		
Total		160	100.0		

Probation ever revoked

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	166	48.7	52.7	52.7
	Yes	149	43.7	47.3	100.0
	Total	315	92.4	100.0	
Missing	System	26	7.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Probation revocation reason - technical violation

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	94	63.1	63.5	63.5
	Yes	54	36.2	36.5	100.0
	Total	148	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		149	100.0		

Probation revocation reason - new offense

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	83	55.7	56.1	56.1
	Yes	65	43.6	43.9	100.0
	Total	148	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		149	100.0		

Probation revocation reason - other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	114	76.5	77.0	77.0
	Yes	34	22.8	23.0	100.0
	Total	148	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		149	100.0		

Currently on parole

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	207	60.7	64.7	64.7
	Yes	113	33.1	35.3	100.0
	Total	320	93.8	100.0	
Missing	System	21	6.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Have parole officer

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	2	1.8	1.8	1.8
	Yes	111	98.2	98.2	100.0
	Total	113	100.0	100.0	

Parole ever revoked

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	250	73.3	82.5	82.5
	Yes	53	15.5	17.5	100.0
	Total	303	88.9	100.0	
Missing	System	38	11.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Parole revocation reason - technical violation

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	32	60.4	61.5	61.5
	Yes	20	37.7	38.5	100.0
	Total	52	98.1	100.0	
Missing	System	1	1.9		
Total		53	100.0		

Parole revocation reason - new offense

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	26	49.1	50.0	50.0
	Yes	26	49.1	50.0	100.0
	Total	52	98.1	100.0	
Missing	System	1	1.9		
Total		53	100.0		

Parole revocation reason - other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	42	79.2	80.8	80.8
	Yes	10	18.9	19.2	100.0
	Total	52	98.1	100.0	
Missing	System	1	1.9		
Total		53	100.0		

Ever serve time in prison

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	207	60.7	63.7	63.7
	Yes	118	34.6	36.3	100.0
	Total	325	95.3	100.0	
Missing	System	16	4.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Number of times in prison

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1 time	52	44.1	44.4	44.4
	2 times	26	22.0	22.2	66.7
	3 times	16	13.6	13.7	80.3
	More than 3 times	23	19.5	19.7	100.0
	Total	117	99.2	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.8		
Total		118	100.0		

Total amount of time in prison

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Less than 1 yr.	8	6.8	6.8	6.8
	1 yr. – less than 2 yrs.	17	14.4	14.4	21.2
	2 yrs. – less than 3 yrs.	13	11.0	11.0	32.2
	3 yrs. – less than 4 yrs.	12	10.2	10.2	42.4
	4 yrs. – less than 5 yrs.	15	12.7	12.7	55.1
	5 yrs. – less than 6 yrs.	10	8.5	8.5	63.6
	6 yrs. – less than 7 yrs.	8	6.8	6.8	70.3
	7 yrs. – less than 10 yrs.	13	11.0	11.0	81.4
	10 yrs. or more	22	18.6	18.6	100.0
	Total	118	100.0	100.0	

Age when first in prison

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	18 – 22	56	47.5	47.9	47.9
	23 – 26	24	20.3	20.5	68.4
	27 – 30	12	10.2	10.3	78.6
	31 – 34	12	10.2	10.3	88.9
	35 – 38	7	5.9	6.0	94.9
	39 – 42	2	1.7	1.7	96.6
	43 or older	4	3.4	3.4	100.0
	Total	117	99.2	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.8		
Total		118	100.0		

Most recent release from prison

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	less than 6 months	9	7.6	7.8	7.8
	6 mons. – less than 1 yr.	11	9.3	9.6	17.4
	1 – less than 2 yrs.	25	21.2	21.7	39.1
	2 yrs. – less than 3 yrs.	15	12.7	13.0	52.2
	3 – 5 yrs.	14	11.9	12.2	64.3
	More than 5 yrs. ago	41	34.7	35.7	100.0
	Total	115	97.5	100.0	
Missing	System	3	2.5		
Total		118	100.0		

Prison conviction offense - Felony/Person

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	54	45.8	45.8	45.8
	Yes	64	54.2	54.2	100.0
	Total	118	100.0	100.0	

Prison conviction offense - Felony/Property

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	79	66.9	66.9	66.9
	Yes	39	33.1	33.1	100.0
	Total	118	100.0	100.0	

Prison conviction offense - Drug offense

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	83	70.3	70.3	70.3
	Yes	35	29.7	29.7	100.0
	Total	118	100.0	100.0	

Prison conviction offense - Probation/Parole violation

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	105	89.0	89.0	89.0
	Yes	13	11.0	11.0	100.0
	Total	118	100.0	100.0	

Prison conviction offense - DUI

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	115	97.5	97.5	97.5
	Yes	3	2.5	2.5	100.0
	Total	118	100.0	100.0	

Prison conviction offense - Other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	100	84.7	84.7	84.7
	Yes	18	15.3	15.3	100.0
	Total	118	100.0	100.0	

Participate in prison programming - Resume building

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	76	64.4	65.0	65.0
	Yes	41	34.7	35.0	100.0
	Total	117	99.2	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.8		
Total		118	100.0		

Participate in prison programming - Job search

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	73	61.9	62.4	62.4
	Yes	44	37.3	37.6	100.0
	Total	117	99.2	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.8		
Total		118	100.0		

Participate in prison programming - Parenting skills

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	78	66.1	66.7	66.7
	Yes	39	33.1	33.3	100.0
	Total	117	99.2	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.8		
Total		118	100.0		

Participate in prison programming - Anger management

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	67	56.8	57.3	57.3
	Yes	50	42.4	42.7	100.0
	Total	117	99.2	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.8		
Total		118	100.0		

Participate in prison programming - Substance abuse treatment

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	69	58.5	59.0	59.0
	Yes	48	40.7	41.0	100.0
	Total	117	99.2	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.8		
Total		118	100.0		

Participate in prison programming - GED

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	68	57.6	58.1	58.1
	Yes	49	41.5	41.9	100.0
	Total	117	99.2	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.8		
Total		118	100.0		

Ever convicted of a Measure 11 offense as an adult

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	250	73.3	88.0	88.0
	Yes	34	10.0	12.0	100.0
	Total	284	83.3	100.0	
Missing	System	57	16.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Father ever in jail

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	185	54.3	60.5	60.5
	Yes	121	35.5	39.5	100.0
	Total	306	89.7	100.0	
Missing	System	35	10.3		
Total		341	100.0		

Number of times father in jail

		Valid					
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent		
Valid	1 time	21	17.4	17.8	17.8		
	2 – 3 times	21	17.4	17.8	35.6		
	4 – 5 times	10	8.3	8.5	44.1		
	6 – 7 times	4	3.3	3.4	47.5		
	More than 7 times	13	10.7	11.0	58.5		
	Not sure	49	40.5	41.5	100.0		
	Total	118	97.5	100.0			
Missing	System	3	2.5				
Total		121	100.0				

Father ever in prison

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	247	72.4	80.2	80.2
	Yes	61	17.9	19.8	100.0
	Total	308	90.3	100.0	
Missing	System	33	9.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Number of times father in prison

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1 time	16	26.2	26.2	26.2
	2 – 3 times	18	29.5	29.5	55.7
	4 – 5 times	6	9.8	9.8	65.6
	More than 5 times	3	4.9	4.9	70.5
	Not sure	18	29.5	29.5	100.0
	Total	61	100.0	100.0	

Mother ever in jail

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	241	70.7	78.5	78.5
	Yes	66	19.4	21.5	100.0
	Total	307	90.0	100.0	
Missing	System	34	10.0		
Total		341	100.0		

Number of times mother in jail

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1 time	28	42.4	42.4	42.4
	2 – 3 times	11	16.7	16.7	59.1
	4 – 5 times	3	4.5	4.5	63.6
	6 – 7 times	1	1.5	1.5	65.2
	More than 7 times	7	10.6	10.6	75.8
	Not sure	16	24.2	24.2	100.0
	Total	66	100.0	100.0	

Mother ever in prison

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	276	80.9	91.7	91.7
	Yes	25	7.3	8.3	100.0
	Total	301	88.3	100.0	
Missing	System	40	11.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Number of times mother in prison

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1 time	14	56.0	56.0	56.0
	2 – 3 times	4	16.0	16.0	72.0
	More than 5 times	1	4.0	4.0	76.0
	Not sure	6	24.0	24.0	100.0
	Total	25	100.0	100.0	

Other family members incarcerated

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	131	38.4	41.7	41.7
	Yes	183	53.7	58.3	100.0
	Total	314	92.1	100.0	
Missing	System	27	7.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Have brothers or sisters

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	21	6.2	6.4	6.4
	Yes	306	89.7	93.6	100.0
	Total	327	95.9	100.0	
Missing	System	14	4.1		
Total		341	100.0		

How many siblings

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1	45	14.7	15.0	15.0
	2	55	18.0	18.3	33.3
	3	68	22.2	22.7	56.0
	More than 3	132	43.1	44.0	100.0
	Total	300	98.0	100.0	
Missing	System	6	2.0		
Total		306	100.0		

Siblings ever under juvenile supervision

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	216	70.6	73.0	73.0
	Yes	80	26.1	27.0	100.0
	Total	296	96.7	100.0	
Missing	System	10	3.3		
Total		306	100.0		

Siblings ever in juvenile detention

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	211	69.0	71.8	71.8
	Yes	83	27.1	28.2	100.0
	Total	294	96.1	100.0	
Missing	System	12	3.9		
Total		306	100.0		

Siblings ever in jail

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	150	49.0	50.8	50.8
	Yes	145	47.4	49.2	100.0
	Total	295	96.4	100.0	
Missing	System	11	3.6		
Total		306	100.0		

Siblings ever in prison

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	215	70.3	72.9	72.9
	Yes	80	26.1	27.1	100.0
	Total	295	96.4	100.0	
Missing	System	11	3.6		
Total		306	100.0		

Ever apply for food stamps

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	51	15.0	15.4	15.4
	Yes	281	82.4	84.6	100.0
	Total	332	97.4	100.0	
Missing	System	9	2.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Received food stamps

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	13	4.6	4.7	4.7
	Yes	261	92.9	95.3	100.0
	Total	274	97.5	100.0	
Missing	System	7	2.5		
Total		281	100.0		

Ever apply for cash assistance

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	225	66.0	70.8	70.8
	Yes	93	27.3	29.2	100.0
	Total	318	93.3	100.0	
Missing	System	23	6.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Received cash assistance

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	26	28.0	28.6	28.6
	Yes	65	69.9	71.4	100.0
	Total	91	97.8	100.0	
Missing	System	2	2.2		
Total		93	100.0		

Ever apply for Oregon Health Plan

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	82	24.0	25.1	25.1
	Yes	245	71.8	74.9	100.0
	Total	327	95.9	100.0	
Missing	System	14	4.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Received Oregon Health Plan

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	33	13.5	13.9	13.9
	Yes	204	83.3	86.1	100.0
	Total	237	96.7	100.0	
Missing	System	8	3.3		
Total		245	100.0		

Ever apply for housing assistance

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	205	60.1	64.3	64.3
	Yes	114	33.4	35.7	100.0
	Total	319	93.5	100.0	
Missing	System	22	6.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Received housing assistance

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	68	59.6	61.3	61.3
	Yes	43	37.7	38.7	100.0
	Total	111	97.4	100.0	
Missing	System	3	2.6		
Total		114	100.0		

Ever apply for Child Care subsidy

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	283	83.0	89.6	89.6
	Yes	33	9.7	10.4	100.0
	Total	316	92.7	100.0	
Missing	System	25	7.3		
Total		341	100.0		

Received Child Care subsidy

-				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	9	27.3	27.3	27.3
	Yes	24	72.7	72.7	100.0
	Total	33	100.0	100.0	

Ever apply for Child Welfare

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	284	83.3	89.0	89.0
	Yes	35	10.3	11.0	100.0
	Total	319	93.5	100.0	
Missing	System	22	6.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Received Child Welfare cash assistance

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	7	20.0	21.2	21.2
	Yes	26	74.3	78.8	100.0
	Total	33	94.3	100.0	
Missing	System	2	5.7		
Total		35	100.0		

Ever apply for Marion County Health Department services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	242	71.0	76.8	76.8
	Yes	73	21.4	23.2	100.0
	Total	315	92.4	100.0	
Missing	System	26	7.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Received Marion County Health Department services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	7	9.6	10.1	10.1
	Yes	62	84.9	89.9	100.0
	Total	69	94.5	100.0	
Missing	System	4	5.5		
Total		73	100.0		

Ever apply for mental health services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	232	68.0	73.0	73.0
	Yes	86	25.2	27.0	100.0
	Total	318	93.3	100.0	
Missing	System	23	6.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Received mental health services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	22	25.6	25.6	25.6
	Yes	64	74.4	74.4	100.0
	Total	86	100.0	100.0	

Ever apply for substance abuse treatment

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	206	60.4	65.0	65.0
	Yes	111	32.6	35.0	100.0
	Total	317	93.0	100.0	
Missing	System	24	7.0		
Total		341	100.0		

Received substance abuse treatment

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	20	18.0	18.2	18.2
	Yes	90	81.1	81.8	100.0
	Total	110	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.9		
Total		111	100.0		

Ever apply for women's clinic services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	278	81.5	91.4	91.4
	Yes	26	7.6	8.6	100.0
	Total	304	89.1	100.0	
Missing	System	37	10.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Received women's clinic services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	2	7.7	8.0	8.0
	Yes	23	88.5	92.0	100.0
	Total	25	96.2	100.0	
Missing	System	1	3.8		
Total		26	100.0		

Ever apply for domestic violence services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	264	77.4	85.2	85.2
	Yes	46	13.5	14.8	100.0
	Total	310	90.9	100.0	
Missing	System	31	9.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Received domestic violence services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	19	41.3	44.2	44.2
	Yes	24	52.2	55.8	100.0
	Total	43	93.5	100.0	
Missing	System	3	6.5		
Total		46	100.0		

Ever apply for Head Start or preschool programs

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	278	81.5	88.0	88.0
	Yes	38	11.1	12.0	100.0
	Total	316	92.7	100.0	
Missing	System	25	7.3		
Total		341	100.0		

Received Head Start or preschool programs

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	5	13.2	13.2	13.2
	Yes	33	86.8	86.8	100.0
	Total	38	100.0	100.0	

Ever apply for Healthy Start or other home visit programs

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	297	87.1	94.9	94.9
	Yes	16	4.7	5.1	100.0
	Total	313	91.8	100.0	
Missing	System	28	8.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Received Healthy Start or other home visit programs

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	3	18.8	20.0	20.0
	Yes	12	75.0	80.0	100.0
	Total	15	93.8	100.0	
Missing	System	1	6.3		
Total		16	100.0		

Ever apply for vocational rehabilitation services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	270	79.2	85.7	85.7
	Yes	45	13.2	14.3	100.0
	Total	315	92.4	100.0	
Missing	System	26	7.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Received vocational rehabilitation services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	21	46.7	48.8	48.8
	Yes	22	48.9	51.2	100.0
	Total	43	95.6	100.0	
Missing	System	2	4.4		
Total		45	100.0		

Ever apply for senior services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	305	89.4	98.1	98.1
	Yes	6	1.8	1.9	100.0
	Total	311	91.2	100.0	
Missing	System	30	8.8		
Total		341	100.0		

Received senior services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	3	50.0	50.0	50.0
	Yes	3	50.0	50.0	100.0
	Total	6	100.0	100.0	

Ever apply any other program or service

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	272	79.8	87.7	87.7
	Yes	38	11.1	12.3	100.0
	Total	310	90.9	100.0	
Missing	System	31	9.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Received other program or service

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	17	44.7	47.2	47.2
	Yes	19	50.0	52.8	100.0
	Total	36	94.7	100.0	
Missing	System	2	5.3		
Total		38	100.0		

Any disabilities

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	193	56.6	58.7	58.7
	Yes	136	39.9	41.3	100.0
	Total	329	96.5	100.0	
Missing	System	12	3.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Medical disability

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	67	49.3	49.6	49.6
	Yes	68	50.0	50.4	100.0
	Total	135	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		136	100.0		

Psychological disability

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	49	36.0	36.3	36.3
	Yes	86	63.2	63.7	100.0
	Total	135	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		136	100.0		

Other disability

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	96	70.6	71.1	71.1
	Yes	39	28.7	28.9	100.0
	Total	135	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		136	100.0		

Ever applied for disability benefits

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	54	39.7	40.3	40.3
	Yes	80	58.8	59.7	100.0
	Total	134	98.5	100.0	
Missing	System	2	1.5		
Total		136	100.0		

Denied disability benefits

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	35	43.8	44.3	44.3
	Yes	44	55.0	55.7	100.0
	Total	79	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	1	1.3		
Total		80	100.0		

Received disability benefits

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	40	50.0	50.6	50.6
	Yes	39	48.8	49.4	100.0
	Total	79	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	1	1.3		
Total		80	100.0		

Disability interferes with finding employment

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	23	16.9	18.5	18.5
	Yes	101	74.3	81.5	100.0
	Total	124	91.2	100.0	
Missing	System	12	8.8		
Total		136	100.0		

Have any medical problems

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	167	49.0	53.0	53.0
	Yes	148	43.4	47.0	100.0
	Total	315	92.4	100.0	
Missing	System	26	7.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Arthritis

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	116	78.4	78.9	78.9
	Yes	31	20.9	21.1	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

Asthma

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	110	74.3	74.8	74.8
	Yes	37	25.0	25.2	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

Hypertension

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	131	88.5	89.1	89.1
	Yes	16	10.8	10.9	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

Heart-related

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	131	88.5	89.1	89.1
	Yes	16	10.8	10.9	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

Diabetes

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	136	91.9	92.5	92.5
	Yes	11	7.4	7.5	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

Hepatitis

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	117	79.1	79.6	79.6
	Yes	30	20.3	20.4	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

HIV

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	147	99.3	100.0	100.0
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

Tuberculosis

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	145	98.0	98.6	98.6
	Yes	2	1.4	1.4	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

Kidney-related

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	139	93.9	94.6	94.6
	Yes	8	5.4	5.4	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

Stroke

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	144	97.3	98.0	98.0
	Yes	3	2.0	2.0	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

Cancer

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	142	95.9	96.6	96.6
	Yes	5	3.4	3.4	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

Paralysis

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	142	95.9	96.6	96.6
	Yes	5	3.4	3.4	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

STD

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	141	95.3	95.9	95.9
	Yes	6	4.1	4.1	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

Liver-related

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	133	89.9	90.5	90.5
	Yes	14	9.5	9.5	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

Other medical problem

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	61	41.2	41.5	41.5
	Yes	86	58.1	58.5	100.0
	Total	147	99.3	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.7		
Total		148	100.0		

Medical insurance or coverage

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	129	37.8	39.3	39.3
	Yes	199	58.4	60.7	100.0
	Total	328	96.2	100.0	
Missing	System	13	3.8		
Total		341	100.0		

Tested for AIDS/HIV

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	94	27.6	29.2	29.2
	Yes	228	66.9	70.8	100.0
	Total	322	94.4	100.0	
Missing	System	19	5.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Received treatment for AIDS/HIV

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	213	93.4	95.5	95.5
	Yes	10	4.4	4.5	100.0
	Total	223	97.8	100.0	
Missing	System	5	2.2		
Total		228	100.0		

Tested for Hepatitis C

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	116	34.0	36.1	36.1
	Yes	205	60.1	63.9	100.0
	Total	321	94.1	100.0	
Missing	System	20	5.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Received treatment for Hepatitis C

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	180	87.8	89.1	89.1
	Yes	22	10.7	10.9	100.0
	Total	202	98.5	100.0	
Missing	System	3	1.5		
Total		205	100.0		

Tested for tuberculosis (TB)

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	49	14.4	15.3	15.3
	Yes	271	79.5	84.7	100.0
	Total	320	93.8	100.0	
Missing	System	21	6.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Received tuberculosis treatment (TB)

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	236	87.1	89.4	89.4
	Yes	28	10.3	10.6	100.0
	Total	264	97.4	100.0	
Missing	System	7	2.6		
Total		271	100.0		

Ever received mental health services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	188	55.1	57.5	57.5
	Yes	139	40.8	42.5	100.0
	Total	327	95.9	100.0	
Missing	System	14	4.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever diagnosed with mental health condition

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	181	53.1	54.8	54.8
	Yes	149	43.7	45.2	100.0
	Total	330	96.8	100.0	
Missing	System	11	3.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Mental health diagnosis - Depression

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	47	31.5	31.5	31.5
	Yes	102	68.5	68.5	100.0
	Total	149	100.0	100.0	

Mental health diagnosis - Bipolar

1				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	91	61.1	61.1	61.1
	Yes	58	38.9	38.9	100.0
	Total	149	100.0	100.0	

Mental health diagnosis - Anxiety

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	55	36.9	36.9	36.9
	Yes	94	63.1	63.1	100.0
	Total	149	100.0	100.0	

Mental health diagnosis - Schizophrenia

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	107	71.8	71.8	71.8
	Yes	42	28.2	28.2	100.0
	Total	149	100.0	100.0	

Mental health diagnosis - PTSD

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	71	47.7	47.7	47.7
	Yes	78	52.3	52.3	100.0
	Total	149	100.0	100.0	

Mental health diagnosis - OCD

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	123	82.6	82.6	82.6
	Yes	26	17.4	17.4	100.0
	Total	149	100.0	100.0	

Mental health diagnosis - Other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	96	64.4	64.4	64.4
	Yes	53	35.6	35.6	100.0
	Total	149	100.0	100.0	

Number of mental health diagnoses

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1.00	34	22.8	22.8	22.8
	2.00	28	18.8	18.8	41.6
	3.00	30	20.1	20.1	61.7
	4.00	25	16.8	16.8	78.5
	5.00	21	14.1	14.1	92.6
	6.00	9	6.0	6.0	98.7
	7.00	2	1.3	1.3	100.0
	Total	149	100.0	100.0	

Age when mental health diagnosis received

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	18 or younger	66	44.3	46.8	46.8
	19-22	13	8.7	9.2	56.0
	23-26	17	11.4	12.1	68.1
	27-30	16	10.7	11.3	79.4
	31-34	7	4.7	5.0	84.4
	35-38	8	5.4	5.7	90.1
	over 38	14	9.4	9.9	100.0
	Total	141	94.6	100.0	
Missing	System	8	5.4		
Total		149	100.0		

Age when first diagnosed with mental health condition

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	2	1	.7	.7	.7
	4	1	.7	.7	1.4
	5	2	1.3	1.4	2.8
	6	4	2.7	2.8	5.7
	7	4	2.7	2.8	8.5
	8	3	2.0	2.1	10.6
	9	2	1.3	1.4	12.1
	10	3	2.0	2.1	14.2
	11	3	2.0	2.1	16.3
	12	7	4.7	5.0	21.3
	13	7	4.7	5.0	26.2
	14	9	6.0	6.4	32.6
	15	10	6.7	7.1	39.7
	16	1	.7	.7	40.4
	17	6	4.0	4.3	44.7
	18	3	2.0	2.1	46.8
	19	4	2.7	2.8	49.6
	20	3	2.0	2.1	51.8
	21	3	2.0	2.1	53.9
	22	3	2.0	2.1	56.0
	23	4	2.7	2.8	58.9
	24	2	1.3	1.4	60.3
	25	8	5.4	5.7	66.0
	26	3	2.0	2.1	68.1
	27	3	2.0	2.1	70.2
	28	5	3.4	3.5	73.8
	29	3	2.0	2.1	75.9
	30	5	3.4	3.5	79.4
	32	3	2.0	2.1	81.6
	33	2	1.3	1.4	83.0
	34	2	1.3	1.4	84.4
	35	3	2.0	2.1	86.5
	36	2	1.3	1.4	87.9
	37	2	1.3	1.4	89.4
	38	1	.7	.7	90.1
	39	1	.7	.7	90.8
	40	3	2.0	2.1	92.9
	42	4	2.7	2.8	95.7
	44	1	.7	.7	96.5
	45	1	.7	.7	97.2
	46	1	.7	.7	97.9
	47	1	.7	.7	98.6
	49	1	.7	.7	99.3
	52	1	.7	.7	100.0
	Total	141	94.6	100.0	100.0
Missing	System	8	5.4	100.0	
Total	System	149	100.0		

When received mental health diagnosis

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	In the last 6 months	13	8.7	9.0	9.0
	6 mons. – less than 1 yr.	15	10.1	10.4	19.4
	1 yr. – less than 3 yrs.	20	13.4	13.9	33.3
	3 yrs. – less than 5 yrs.	18	12.1	12.5	45.8
	More than 5 yrs. ago	78	52.3	54.2	100.0
	Total	144	96.6	100.0	
Missing	System	5	3.4		
Total		149	100.0		

Received medication after diagnosis

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	30	20.1	20.8	20.8
	Yes	114	76.5	79.2	100.0
	Total	144	96.6	100.0	
Missing	System	5	3.4		
Total		149	100.0		

Taking medication at time of arrest

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	77	61.1	62.1	62.1
	Yes	47	37.3	37.9	100.0
	Total	124	98.4	100.0	
Missing	System	2	1.6		
Total		126	100.0		

Able to continue medication after admission

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	25	53.2	54.3	54.3
	Yes	21	44.7	45.7	100.0
	Total	46	97.9	100.0	
Missing	System	1	2.1		
Total		47	100.0		

Ever been hospitalized for psychiatric condition

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	200	58.7	75.5	75.5
	Yes	65	19.1	24.5	100.0
	Total	265	77.7	100.0	
Missing	System	76	22.3		
Total		341	100.0		

Currently have a mental health issue

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	130	38.1	44.1	44.1
	Yes	165	48.4	55.9	100.0
	Total	295	86.5	100.0	
Missing	System	46	13.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Mental health issue - Depression

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	50	30.3	30.3	30.3
	Yes	115	69.7	69.7	100.0
	Total	165	100.0	100.0	

Mental health issue - Bipolar

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	106	64.2	64.2	64.2
	Yes	59	35.8	35.8	100.0
	Total	165	100.0	100.0	

Mental health issue - Anxiety

		_		Valid	0 111 0 1
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	51	30.9	30.9	30.9
	Yes	114	69.1	69.1	100.0
	Total	165	100.0	100.0	

Mental health issue - Schizophrenia

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	128	77.6	77.6	77.6
	Yes	37	22.4	22.4	100.0
	Total	165	100.0	100.0	

Mental health issue - PTSD

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	75	45.5	45.5	45.5
	Yes	90	54.5	54.5	100.0
	Total	165	100.0	100.0	

Mental health issue - OCD

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	136	82.4	82.4	82.4
	Yes	29	17.6	17.6	100.0
	Total	165	100.0	100.0	

Mental health issue - Other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	113	68.5	68.5	68.5
	Yes	52	31.5	31.5	100.0
	Total	165	100.0	100.0	

Number of current mental health issues

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	.00	2	1.2	1.2	1.2
	1.00	25	15.2	15.2	16.4
	2.00	36	21.8	21.8	38.2
	3.00	46	27.9	27.9	66.1
	4.00	30	18.2	18.2	84.2
	5.00	16	9.7	9.7	93.9
	6.00	9	5.5	5.5	99.4
	7.00	1	.6	.6	100.0
	Total	165	100.0	100.0	

Will have access to treatment for any mental health issue after release

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	35	10.3	11.8	11.8
	Yes	82	24.0	27.6	39.4
	3	102	29.9	34.3	73.7
	4	78	22.9	26.3	100.0
	Total	297	87.1	100.0	
Missing	System	44	12.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Age you first drank alcohol

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	15 or younger	192	56.3	59.1	59.1
	16 – 18	83	24.3	25.5	84.6
	19 – 21	26	7.6	8.0	92.6
	Older than 21	10	2.9	3.1	95.7
	Never had alcohol	14	4.1	4.3	100.0
	Total	325	95.3	100.0	
Missing	System	16	4.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever have a problem with alcohol

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	192	56.3	58.0	58.0
	Yes	139	40.8	42.0	100.0
	Total	331	97.1	100.0	
Missing	System	10	2.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Currently have a problem with alcohol

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	285	83.6	86.6	86.6
	Yes	44	12.9	13.4	100.0
	Total	329	96.5	100.0	
Missing	System	12	3.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever attended an alcohol treatment program

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	190	55.7	57.9	57.9
	Yes	138	40.5	42.1	100.0
	Total	328	96.2	100.0	
Missing	System	13	3.8		
Total		341	100.0		

Successfully completed alcohol treatment program

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	21	15.2	15.6	15.6
	Yes	114	82.6	84.4	100.0
	Total	135	97.8	100.0	
Missing	System	3	2.2		
Total		138	100.0		

Ever have a problem with illegal drug use (excluding meth)

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	157	46.0	48.8	48.8
	Yes	165	48.4	51.2	100.0
	Total	322	94.4	100.0	
Missing	System	19	5.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Age you first used an illegal drug

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	15 or younger	136	39.9	45.0	45.0
	16 – 18	83	24.3	27.5	72.5
	19 – 21	28	8.2	9.3	81.8
	Older than 21	32	9.4	10.6	92.4
	Never had alcohol	23	6.7	7.6	100.0
	Total	302	88.6	100.0	
Missing	System	39	11.4		
Total		341	100.0		

Currently have a problem with illegal drug use

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	204	59.8	62.4	62.4
	Yes	123	36.1	37.6	100.0
	Total	327	95.9	100.0	
Missing	System	14	4.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever had a problem with prescription drug use

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	261	76.5	80.6	80.6
	Yes	63	18.5	19.4	100.0
	Total	324	95.0	100.0	
Missing	System	17	5.0		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever attended a drug treatment program

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	158	46.3	48.2	48.2
	Yes	170	49.9	51.8	100.0
	Total	328	96.2	100.0	
Missing	System	13	3.8		
Total		341	100.0		

Successfully completed drug treatment program

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	39	22.9	23.4	23.4
	Yes	128	75.3	76.6	100.0
	Total	167	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	3	1.8		
Total		170	100.0		

Ever used methamphetamine(s)

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	90	26.4	27.7	27.7
	Yes	235	68.9	72.3	100.0
	Total	325	95.3	100.0	
Missing	System	16	4.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever used heroin

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	222	65.1	68.7	68.7
	Yes	101	29.6	31.3	100.0
	Total	323	94.7	100.0	
Missing	System	18	5.3		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever had a problem with heroin use

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	53	52.5	53.0	53.0
	Yes	47	46.5	47.0	100.0
	Total	100	99.0	100.0	
Missing	System	1	1.0		
Total		101	100.0		

Ever used to stop heroin use - Suboxone

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	81	80.2	81.0	81.0
	Yes	19	18.8	19.0	100.0
	Total	100	99.0	100.0	
Missing	System	1	1.0		
Total		101	100.0		

Ever used to stop heroin use - Subutex

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	85	84.2	85.0	85.0
	Yes	15	14.9	15.0	100.0
	Total	100	99.0	100.0	
Missing	System	1	1.0		
Total		101	100.0		

Ever used to stop heroin use - Naltrexone

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	97	96.0	97.0	97.0
	Yes	3	3.0	3.0	100.0
	Total	100	99.0	100.0	
Missing	System	1	1.0		
Total		101	100.0		

Ever used to stop heroin use - Methadone

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	84	83.2	84.0	84.0
	Yes	16	15.8	16.0	100.0
	Total	100	99.0	100.0	
Missing	System	1	1.0		
Total		101	100.0		

Ever used to stop heroin use - None of these

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	53	52.5	53.0	53.0
	Yes	47	46.5	47.0	100.0
	Total	100	99.0	100.0	
Missing	System	1	1.0		
Total		101	100.0		

Ever detoxed in jail

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	203	59.5	63.2	63.2
	Yes	118	34.6	36.8	100.0
	Total	321	94.1	100.0	
Missing	System	20	5.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Parents/guardians had an alcohol problem

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	184	54.0	57.9	57.9
	Yes	134	39.3	42.1	100.0
	Total	318	93.3	100.0	
Missing	System	23	6.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Parents/guardians had a drug problem

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	221	64.8	69.9	69.9
	Yes	95	27.9	30.1	100.0
	Total	316	92.7	100.0	
Missing	System	25	7.3		
Total		341	100.0		

Parent were married

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	75	22.0	23.0	23.0
	Yes	251	73.6	77.0	100.0
	Total	326	95.6	100.0	
Missing	System	15	4.4		
Total		341	100.0		

Parents divorced

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	129	51.4	53.8	53.8
	Yes	111	44.2	46.3	100.0
	Total	240	95.6	100.0	
Missing	System	11	4.4		
Total		251	100.0		

Age when parents divorced

-				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Under 5	43	38.7	39.1	39.1
	6 – 9	24	21.6	21.8	60.9
	10 – 12	14	12.6	12.7	73.6
	13 – 15	10	9.0	9.1	82.7
	16 – 18	6	5.4	5.5	88.2
	Older than 18	13	11.7	11.8	100.0
	Total	110	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.9		
Total		111	100.0		

Ever live in a foster home

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	236	69.2	73.1	73.1
	Yes	87	25.5	26.9	100.0
	Total	323	94.7	100.0	
Missing	System	18	5.3		
Total		341	100.0		

How long in a foster home

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Less than 6 months	22	25.3	25.3	25.3
	6 – 12 months	22	25.3	25.3	50.6
	13 – 24 months	14	16.1	16.1	66.7
	24 – 36 months	6	6.9	6.9	73.6
	More than 36 months	23	26.4	26.4	100.0
	Total	87	100.0	100.0	

Rating of foster home experience

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Very good	3	3.4	3.5	3.5
	Good	10	11.5	11.6	15.1
	Average	33	37.9	38.4	53.5
	Bad	13	14.9	15.1	68.6
	Very bad	27	31.0	31.4	100.0
	Total	86	98.9	100.0	
Missing	System	1	1.1		
Total		87	100.0		

Economic situation while growing up - poor

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	254	74.5	75.4	75.4
	Yes	83	24.3	24.6	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Economic situation while growing up - working class

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	215	63.0	63.8	63.8
	Yes	122	35.8	36.2	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Economic situation while growing up - middle class

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	242	71.0	71.8	71.8
	Yes	95	27.9	28.2	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Economic situation while growing up - well-to-do

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	314	92.1	93.2	93.2
	Yes	23	6.7	6.8	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Economic situation while growing up - other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	324	95.0	96.1	96.1
	Yes	13	3.8	3.9	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever involved in a gang

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	247	72.4	76.9	76.9
	Yes	74	21.7	23.1	100.0
	Total	321	94.1	100.0	
Missing	System	20	5.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Any family ever member of gang

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	250	73.3	78.4	78.4
	Yes	69	20.2	21.6	100.0
	Total	319	93.5	100.0	
Missing	System	22	6.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Have any children

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	103	30.2	31.8	31.8
	Yes	221	64.8	68.2	100.0
	Total	324	95.0	100.0	
Missing	System	17	5.0		
Total		341	100.0		

Number of children

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1	49	22.2	22.4	22.4
	2	73	33.0	33.3	55.7
	3	52	23.5	23.7	79.5
	4	23	10.4	10.5	90.0
	5	7	3.2	3.2	93.2
	6	6	2.7	2.7	95.9
	7	1	.5	.5	96.3
	8	2	.9	.9	97.3
	9	3	1.4	1.4	98.6
	10	1	.5	.5	99.1
	More than 10	2	.9	.9	100.0
	Total	219	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	2	.9		
Total		221	100.0		

Number of children under age of 18

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1	57	25.8	31.7	31.7
	2	67	30.3	37.2	68.9
	3	32	14.5	17.8	86.7
	4	16	7.2	8.9	95.6
	5	2	.9	1.1	96.7
	6	3	1.4	1.7	98.3
	7	1	.5	.6	98.9
	More than 10	2	.9	1.1	100.0
	Total	180	81.4	100.0	
Missing	System	41	18.6		
Total		221	100.0		

Number of children living with you at time of arrest

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1	48	21.7	47.5	47.5
	2	29	13.1	28.7	76.2
	3	17	7.7	16.8	93.1
	4	6	2.7	5.9	99.0
	5	1	.5	1.0	100.0
	Total	101	45.7	100.0	
Missing	System	120	54.3		
Total		221	100.0		

Number of children who are - newborn to 5 yrs.

1				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0	7	3.2	10.1	10.1
	1	34	15.4	49.3	59.4
	2	19	8.6	27.5	87.0
	3	7	3.2	10.1	97.1
	4	1	.5	1.4	98.6
	5	1	.5	1.4	100.0
	Total	69	31.2	100.0	
Missing	System	152	68.8		
Total		221	100.0		

Number of children who are - 6 - 10 yrs.

			Valid					
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent			
Valid	0	4	1.8	6.1	6.1			
	1	43	19.5	65.2	71.2			
	2	13	5.9	19.7	90.9			
	3	3	1.4	4.5	95.5			
	4	2	.9	3.0	98.5			
	6	1	.5	1.5	100.0			
	Total	66	29.9	100.0				
Missing	System	155	70.1					
Total		221	100.0					

Number of children who are - 11 - 12 yrs.

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0	7	3.2	24.1	24.1
	1	21	9.5	72.4	96.6
	13	1	.5	3.4	100.0
	Total	29	13.1	100.0	
Missing	System	192	86.9		
Total		221	100.0		

Number of children who are - 13 - 18 yrs.

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0	6	2.7	12.8	12.8
	1	26	11.8	55.3	68.1
	2	13	5.9	27.7	95.7
	3	1	.5	2.1	97.9
	21	1	.5	2.1	100.0
	Total	47	21.3	100.0	
Missing	System	174	78.7		
Total		221	100.0		

Number of children who are - over 18 yrs.

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0	7	3.2	20.6	20.6
	1	14	6.3	41.2	61.8
	2	6	2.7	17.6	79.4
	3	6	2.7	17.6	97.1
	4	1	.5	2.9	100.0
	Total	34	15.4	100.0	
Missing	System	187	84.6		
Total		221	100.0		

Children currently with - spouse/partner

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	110	49.8	50.0	50.0
	Yes	110	49.8	50.0	100.0
	Total	220	99.5	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.5		
Total		221	100.0		

Children currently with - grandparent(s)

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	188	85.1	85.5	85.5
	Yes	32	14.5	14.5	100.0
	Total	220	99.5	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.5		
Total		221	100.0		

Children currently with - foster home

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	204	92.3	92.7	92.7
	Yes	16	7.2	7.3	100.0
	Total	220	99.5	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.5		
Total		221	100.0		

Children currently with - other relatives

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	199	90.0	90.5	90.5
	Yes	21	9.5	9.5	100.0
	Total	220	99.5	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.5		
Total		221	100.0		

Children currently with - grown and on own

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	186	84.2	84.5	84.5
	Yes	34	15.4	15.5	100.0
	Total	220	99.5	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.5		
Total		221	100.0		

Children currently with - other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	183	82.8	83.2	83.2
	Yes	37	16.7	16.8	100.0
	Total	220	99.5	100.0	
Missing	System	1	.5		
Total		221	100.0		

Custodial parent of any child(ren)

		Valid				
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent	
Valid	No	85	38.5	45.2	45.2	
	Yes	54	24.4	28.7	73.9	
	3	49	22.2	26.1	100.0	
	Total	188	85.1	100.0		
Missing	System	33	14.9			
Total		221	100.0			

Support source to help raise children - current spouse

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	161	72.9	74.2	74.2
	Yes	56	25.3	25.8	100.0
	Total	217	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.8		
Total		221	100.0		

Support source to help raise children - ex-spouse

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	160	72.4	73.7	73.7
	Yes	57	25.8	26.3	100.0
	Total	217	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.8		
Total		221	100.0		

Support source to help raise children - significant other (girlfriend/boyfriend)

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	177	80.1	81.6	81.6
	Yes	40	18.1	18.4	100.0
	Total	217	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.8		
Total		221	100.0		

Support source to help raise children - grandparents

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	155	70.1	71.4	71.4
	Yes	62	28.1	28.6	100.0
	Total	217	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.8		
Total		221	100.0		

Support source to help raise children - other relatives

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	153	69.2	70.5	70.5
	Yes	64	29.0	29.5	100.0
	Total	217	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.8		
Total		221	100.0		

Support source to help raise children - friends

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	188	85.1	86.6	86.6
	Yes	29	13.1	13.4	100.0
	Total	217	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.8		
Total		221	100.0		

Support source to help raise children - neighbors

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	212	95.9	97.7	97.7
	Yes	5	2.3	2.3	100.0
	Total	217	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.8		
Total		221	100.0		

Support source to help raise children - social services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	189	85.5	87.1	87.1
	Yes	28	12.7	12.9	100.0
	Total	217	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.8		
Total		221	100.0		

Support source to help raise children - daycare/babysitter

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	201	91.0	92.6	92.6
	Yes	16	7.2	7.4	100.0
	Total	217	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.8		
Total		221	100.0		

Support source to help raise children - pastor/faith-based connections

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	206	93.2	94.9	94.9
	Yes	11	5.0	5.1	100.0
	Total	217	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.8		
Total		221	100.0		

Support source to help raise children - older children caring for younger ones

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	207	93.7	95.4	95.4
	Yes	10	4.5	4.6	100.0
	Total	217	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.8		
Total		221	100.0		

Support source to help raise children - other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	182	82.4	83.9	83.9
	Yes	35	15.8	16.1	100.0
	Total	217	98.2	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.8		
Total		221	100.0		

Current/most recent partner controlled daily activities

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	215	63.0	67.8	67.8
	Yes	102	29.9	32.2	100.0
	Total	317	93.0	100.0	
Missing	System	24	7.0		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever had a partner control daily activities

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	170	49.9	53.0	53.0
	Yes	151	44.3	47.0	100.0
	Total	321	94.1	100.0	
Missing	System	20	5.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Current/most recent partner said you were unattractive, stupid, or dumb

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	234	68.6	72.9	72.9
	Yes	87	25.5	27.1	100.0
	Total	321	94.1	100.0	
Missing	System	20	5.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever had a partner say you were unattractive, stupid, or dumb

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	191	56.0	60.1	60.1
	Yes	127	37.2	39.9	100.0
	Total	318	93.3	100.0	
Missing	System	23	6.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Current/most recent partner ever insulted or shamed you in front of others

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	213	62.5	66.8	66.8
	Yes	106	31.1	33.2	100.0
	Total	319	93.5	100.0	
Missing	System	22	6.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever had a partner insult or shame you in front of others

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	159	46.6	50.0	50.0
	Yes	159	46.6	50.0	100.0
	Total	318	93.3	100.0	
Missing	System	23	6.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Current/most recent partner ever pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or otherwise hurt you

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	201	58.9	64.0	64.0
	Yes	113	33.1	36.0	100.0
	Total	314	92.1	100.0	
Missing	System	27	7.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever had a partner pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or otherwise hurt you

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	158	46.3	50.0	50.0
	Yes	158	46.3	50.0	100.0
	Total	316	92.7	100.0	
Missing	System	25	7.3		
Total		341	100.0		

Current/most recent partner ever caused you to miss work or school because of injury/upset caused by violence

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	255	74.8	80.2	80.2
	Yes	63	18.5	19.8	100.0
	Total	318	93.3	100.0	
Missing	System	23	6.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever had a partner who caused you to miss work or school because of injury/upset caused by violence

		•		Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	235	68.9	73.7	73.7
	Yes	84	24.6	26.3	100.0
	Total	319	93.5	100.0	
Missing	System	22	6.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Current/most recent partner ever forced you to into sexual activities

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	288	84.5	90.6	90.6
	Yes	30	8.8	9.4	100.0
	Total	318	93.3	100.0	
Missing	System	23	6.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever had a partner who forced you to into sexual activities

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	268	78.6	84.3	84.3
	Yes	50	14.7	15.7	100.0
	Total	318	93.3	100.0	
Missing	System	23	6.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Afraid for your safety while in jail

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	273	80.1	85.8	85.8
	Yes	45	13.2	14.2	100.0
	Total	318	93.3	100.0	
Missing	System	23	6.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Are afraid for the safety of your children now

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	267	78.3	88.1	88.1
	Yes	36	10.6	11.9	100.0
	Total	303	88.9	100.0	
Missing	System	38	11.1		
Total		341	100.0		

Afraid for your safety when released

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	279	81.8	87.7	87.7
	Yes	39	11.4	12.3	100.0
	Total	318	93.3	100.0	
Missing	System	23	6.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Physically abused as a child

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	211	61.9	66.1	66.1
	Yes	108	31.7	33.9	100.0
	Total	319	93.5	100.0	
Missing	System	22	6.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Neglected as a child

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	223	65.4	70.1	70.1
	Yes	95	27.9	29.9	100.0
	Total	318	93.3	100.0	
Missing	System	23	6.7		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever been victim of sexual abuse

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	222	65.1	70.7	70.7
	Yes	92	27.0	29.3	100.0
	Total	314	92.1	100.0	
Missing	System	27	7.9		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever witnessed domestic violence between your parents or between parent and a partner

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	181	53.1	57.3	57.3
	Yes	135	39.6	42.7	100.0
	Total	316	92.7	100.0	
Missing	System	25	7.3		
Total		341	100.0		

Ever pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or otherwise hurt by a spouse/partner while pregnant

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	26	44.1	45.6	45.6
	Yes	24	40.7	42.1	87.7
	Never been pregnant	7	11.9	12.3	100.0
	Total	57	96.6	100.0	
Missing	System	2	3.4		
Total		59	100.0		

Main reason in jail today - alcohol use

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	303	88.9	89.9	89.9
	Yes	34	10.0	10.1	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Main reason in jail today - drug use

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	255	74.8	75.7	75.7
	Yes	82	24.0	24.3	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Main reason in jail today - bad choices

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	208	61.0	61.7	61.7
	Yes	129	37.8	38.3	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Main reason in jail today - order violation

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	328	96.2	97.3	97.3
	Yes	9	2.6	2.7	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Main reason in jail today - prob/parole violation

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	296	86.8	87.8	87.8
	Yes	41	12.0	12.2	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Main reason in jail today - homelessness

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	301	88.3	89.3	89.3
	Yes	36	10.6	10.7	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Main reason in jail today - unemployment

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	314	92.1	93.2	93.2
	Yes	23	6.7	6.8	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Main reason in jail today - lack of legal assistance

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	324	95.0	96.1	96.1
	Yes	13	3.8	3.9	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Main reason in jail today - no reintegration assistance

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	326	95.6	96.7	96.7
	Yes	11	3.2	3.3	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Main reason in jail today - lack of mental health services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	308	90.3	91.4	91.4
	Yes	29	8.5	8.6	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

Main reason in jail today - other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	293	85.9	86.9	86.9
	Yes	44	12.9	13.1	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Will not return

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	206	60.4	60.9	60.9
	Yes	132	38.7	39.1	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Stop using alcohol

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	273	80.1	80.8	80.8
	Yes	65	19.1	19.2	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Stop using drugs

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	220	64.5	65.1	65.1
	Yes	118	34.6	34.9	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Substance abuse treatment

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	245	71.8	72.5	72.5
	Yes	93	27.3	27.5	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Get record expunged

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	259	76.0	76.6	76.6
	Yes	79	23.2	23.4	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Find a place to live

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	222	65.1	65.7	65.7
	Yes	116	34.0	34.3	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Better relationship choices

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	253	74.2	74.9	74.9
	Yes	85	24.9	25.1	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Anger control

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	281	82.4	83.1	83.1
	Yes	57	16.7	16.9	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Educational opportunities

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	254	74.5	75.4	75.4
	Yes	83	24.3	24.6	100.0
	Total	337	98.8	100.0	
Missing	System	4	1.2		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Better access to mental health services

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	249	73.0	73.7	73.7
	Yes	89	26.1	26.3	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Better access to medical care

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	289	84.8	85.5	85.5
	Yes	49	14.4	14.5	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Take meds as prescribed

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	286	83.9	84.6	84.6
	Yes	52	15.2	15.4	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Find a job

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	198	58.1	58.6	58.6
	Yes	140	41.1	41.4	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Get drivers license

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	221	64.8	65.4	65.4
	Yes	117	34.3	34.6	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Resolve child custody issue

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	294	86.2	87.0	87.0
	Yes	44	12.9	13.0	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

How to stay out of jail - Other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	239	70.1	70.7	70.7
	Yes	99	29.0	29.3	100.0
	Total	338	99.1	100.0	
Missing	System	3	.9		
Total		341	100.0		

For "most important service" respondents were asked to rank order the three most important services need by them and their family. Many respondents did not understand the instructions and either allocated the same numbers (1, 2, 3) to more than one option or ranked all the options (e.g., 1 to 10). While these distributions cannot be processed as intended, results indicate that employment and housing are the greatest concerns overall.

Most important service - Employment

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1	161	47.2	63.4	63.4
	2	45	13.2	17.7	81.1
	3	46	13.5	18.1	99.2
	4	1	.3	.4	99.6
	9	1	.3	.4	100.0
	Total	254	74.5	100.0	
Missing	System	87	25.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Most important service - Housing

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1	127	37.2	53.6	53.6
	2	55	16.1	23.2	76.8
	3	54	15.8	22.8	99.6
	4	1	.3	.4	100.0
	Total	237	69.5	100.0	
Missing	System	104	30.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Most important service - Substance abuse treatment

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1	60	17.6	34.9	34.9
	2	32	9.4	18.6	53.5
	3	74	21.7	43.0	96.5
	4	1	.3	.6	97.1
	5	2	.6	1.2	98.3
	8	2	.6	1.2	99.4
	10	1	.3	.6	100.0
	Total	172	50.4	100.0	
Missing	System	169	49.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Most important service - Childcare assistance

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0	1	.3	.8	.8
	1	30	8.8	23.3	24.0
	2	26	7.6	20.2	44.2

Total		341	100.0		
Missing	System	212	62.2		
	Total	129	37.8	100.0	
	8	2	.6	1.6	100.0
	6	1	.3	.8	98.4
	5	1	.3	.8	97.7
	4	1	.3	.8	96.9
	3	67	19.6	51.9	96.1

Most important service - Medical care

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1	62	18.2	37.6	37.6
	2	47	13.8	28.5	66.1
	3	45	13.2	27.3	93.3
	4	5	1.5	3.0	96.4
	5	1	.3	.6	97.0
	6	2	.6	1.2	98.2
	7	2	.6	1.2	99.4
	9	1	.3	.6	100.0
	Total	165	48.4	100.0	
Missing	System	176	51.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Most important service - Mental health care

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1	68	19.9	40.2	40.2
	2	45	13.2	26.6	66.9
	3	49	14.4	29.0	95.9
	4	2	.6	1.2	97.0
	5	1	.3	.6	97.6
	6	1	.3	.6	98.2
	7	1	.3	.6	98.8
	9	2	.6	1.2	100.0
	Total	169	49.6	100.0	
Missing	System	172	50.4		
Total		341	100.0		

Most important service - Education

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1	52	15.2	30.8	30.8
	2	38	11.1	22.5	53.3
	3	72	21.1	42.6	95.9
	4	1	.3	.6	96.4
	5	3	.9	1.8	98.2
	6	1	.3	.6	98.8
	7	2	.6	1.2	100.0
	Total	169	49.6	100.0	
Missing	System	172	50.4		
Total		341	100.0		

Most important service - Food

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1	82	24.0	45.1	45.1
	2	48	14.1	26.4	71.4
	3	45	13.2	24.7	96.2
	4	1	.3	.5	96.7
	5	1	.3	.5	97.3
	6	2	.6	1.1	98.4
	7	1	.3	.5	98.9
	9	2	.6	1.1	100.0
	Total	182	53.4	100.0	
Missing	System	159	46.6		
Total		341	100.0		

Most important service - Financial assistance

-				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1	66	19.4	39.1	39.1
	2	33	9.7	19.5	58.6
	3	61	17.9	36.1	94.7
	4	4	1.2	2.4	97.0
	5	2	.6	1.2	98.2
	6	1	.3	.6	98.8
	7	2	.6	1.2	100.0
	Total	169	49.6	100.0	
Missing	System	172	50.4		
Total		341	100.0		

Most important service - Legal assistance

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0	1	.3	.7	.7
	1	50	14.7	34.5	35.2
	2	39	11.4	26.9	62.1
	3	50	14.7	34.5	96.6
	5	1	.3	.7	97.2
	9	4	1.2	2.8	100.0
	Total	145	42.5	100.0	
Missing	System	196	57.5		
Total		341	100.0		

Most important service - Other

				Valid	
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0	1	.3	.7	.7
	1	49	14.4	36.3	37.0
	2	14	4.1	10.4	47.4
	3	63	18.5	46.7	94.1
	4	2	.6	1.5	95.6
	5	2	.6	1.5	97.0
	8	2	.6	1.5	98.5
	9	2	.6	1.5	100.0
	Total	135	39.6	100.0	
Missing	System	206	60.4		
Total		341	100.0		

APPENDIX B: SURVEY

Marion County Corrections Facility Survey 2015: Breaking the Cycle of Incarceration

This survey collects information to identify needs and services that assist in breaking the cycle of incarceration. Your participation is very important and could have direct impact on current and future services and programs.

The survey is entirely voluntary and confidential. To make sure of this, **do not write your name or initials** anywhere on the survey. It is important that the ONLY marks you make are to completely fill in the bubble next to your answer for each question. If the question does not apply, you can leave the answer blank.

Completely darken response circles like this ●. Clearly print numbers as shown: 0 1 2 3 4 5

If you don't understand a question or need some assistance, please raise your hand and one of our staff will come to help you.

When you are finished, raise your hand and one of our staff will come and get the survey.

General Information							
1. Sex				O Male	O Fema	ale	
2. Race/Ethnicity (C	theck all that apply):						
O African American	O American Indian	O Asiaı	า	O Latino	/Hispanic		
O White	O Russian	O Othe	er				
3. Are you a U.S. Cit	tizen?			O Yes	O No		
4. Marital Status							
O Married	O Single	C	Divorced				
O Separated	O Widowed	C	Other				
5. Education (please	e choose the highest	level <u>co</u>	mpleted):				
O Less than 8th grac	de O 8th grade		O 9t	:h grade		O 10th grad	de
O 11th grade	O 12th grade	9	01	yr. college		O 2 yrs. col	lege
O 3 yrs. college	O 4 yrs. colle	ege	ОМ	lore than 4 y	yrs. college		
6. Did you graduate	from high school?			O Yes	O No		
7. Do you have a GE	:D?			O Yes	O No		
7a. If yes, wher	e did you earn your	GED? () Communi	tv college	O While i	ncarcerated	O Other

8. What is your primary language?

O English O Spanish O Other

Can you:	Yes	No
8a. Speak English?	0	0
8b. Write in English?	0	0
8c. Read English?	0	0
8d. Speak Spanish?	0	0
8e. Write in Spanish?	0	0
8f. Read Spanish?	0	0

Living Situation and Employment						
9. Are you an Oregon Resident?		O Yes	O No			
9a. If yes, how long have you lived in Orego	on?					
O less than 6 months O 6 mons. – 1 yr. O 11 – 15 yrs. O 16 – 20 yrs.	O 1 yr. – 5 y O More than		O 6 – 10 yrs.			
10. Do you have other family members who live	in Oregon?	O Yes	O No			
11. Is your permanent address in Marion County	/ ?	O Yes	O No			
11a. If yes, what town, city, or community	is your perma	nent add	ress located?			
O Salem O Keizer O Woodburn O Silverton O Other	O Mt. Angel					
12. Have you ever been denied a place to live be was because of your criminal record)?	ecause of your	criminal O Yes	record (that is, you were <u>told</u> it O No			
13. Have you ever had a permanent place to live	e?	O Yes	O No			
14. Did you have a permanent place to live just be coming here?	before	O Yes	O No			
15. Do you have a permanent place to live after release from jail?	your	O Yes	O No			

L6.	Have you ever been homeless?	O Ye	es	O No	
	If yes, please answer the following questions:				
	16a. Were you homeless immediately before your current arrest?	O Ye	es	O No	
	16b. How many times have you been homeless?	O Once O More t	han	O Twice 3 times	O Three times
	16c. What is the longest period you went without a	permanent	t pla	ice to live?	
	O less than 30 days O 30 - 60 days O 61 - 90 d O 121 - 180 days O 181 days - 1 yr. O More tha	•) 91	– 120 days	
	16d. Were you alone when you were homeless?	O Ye	es	O No	
	16e. What is the primary reason you were homeless	?			
	O Unemployment O Substance a	abuse (inclu	udin	g alcohol) O	Jail/prison record
	O Mental health issues O Other				
L7.	Did you have a job before your current incarceration?	? O Ye	es	O No	
	17a. If yes, was your job steady?	O Ye	es	O No	
	17b. How long did you work at that job?				
	O less than 6 months O 6 mons. – less than 1 yr O 2 yrs. – less than 3 yrs. O 3 yrs. – less than 5 yrs.	•		·	
	17c. What kind of work did you do?				
	O Laborer O Construction O Service O Office/clerical O Agriculture O Other	O Sales			
	17d. What was your income per month before your	current arr	rest	?	
	O \$1 - \$499 O \$500 - \$1,000 O \$1,001	- \$1,500	0	\$1,501 – \$2,0	000
	O \$2,001 - \$2,500 O \$2,501 - \$3,000 O More t	han \$3,000)		

18. Did you ever have a job with paid benefits?	O Yes O No
18a. If yes, did you have medical coverage	? O Yes O No
18b. Did you have paid vacation time?	O Yes O No
18c. Did you have other benefits?	O Yes O No
19. Do you have a job to go to when you are re	leased from jail?
O Yes O No O Not applicable (going to ano	ther facility)
19a. If yes, will that job be steady?	O Yes O No
19b. How do you know you will have that	job?
O Employer promise O Family/friend arr	rangement O Other
19c. What kind of work will you be doing?	
O Laborer O Construction O Servi	ice O Sales
O Office/clerical O Agriculture O Othe	er
19d. What will your anticipated income <u>po</u>	er month be from the job you will be working?
O \$1 - \$499 O \$500 - \$1,000	O \$1,001 - \$1,500 O \$1,501 - \$2,000
O \$2,001 – \$2,500 O \$2,501 – \$3,000	O More than \$3,000
20. Have you ever been denied employment be was because of your criminal record)?	ecause of your criminal record (that is, you were <u>told</u> it O Yes O No

		Military Service		
21. Have you ever serv	ved in the military?		O Yes	O No
If yes, please con	tinue to the question	ns below. If no, go	to questio	on 22.
21a. In what bran	ch of the Armed For	ces did you serve?	(Check all	l that apply):
O Army (include N	lational Guard or Res	serve) O Na	avy (includ	le Reserve)
O Marine Corps (i	nclude Reserve)	O Ai	r Force (In	clude Air National Guard or Reserve
O Coast Guard (in	clude Reserve)	O Ot	her	
21b. Altogether, I	now much time did y	you serve in the mi	litary?	
O less than 1 yr.	O 1 – 2 yrs.	O 2 – 3 yrs.	0	3 – 4 yrs.
O 4 – 5 yrs.	•	O More than		,
21c. Did you rece	ive an Honorable Dis	scharge?	O Yes	O No
21d. Have you ev	er applied for vetera	n's benefits?	O Yes	O No
21e. Did you ever	receive veteran's b	enefits?	O Yes	O No
21f. Were you ev	er deployed to a con	nbat area?	O Yes	O No
If yes, please	e continue to the qu	estions below. If n	o, go to qı	uestion 22.
•	have recurrent and, s of events you expe	_	O Yes	O No
•	ou ever used alcoho	-	O Yes	O No
-	u think you need ass ms related to your m	_	O Yes	O No

Criminal History Information 22. Were you ever arrested as a juvenile (under the O Yes O No age of 18)? 22a. If yes, what was your age when you were FIRST arrested? O 12 or younger O 13 O 14 O 15 O 16 O 17 22b. Were you ever under the supervision of the O Yes O No **Juvenile Department?** 22c. Were you ever placed in juvenile detention? O No O Yes 22d. Were you committed to an Oregon Youth O Yes O No Authority (OYA) facility? 23. Were you ever convicted of a Measure 11 offense O Yes O No when you were under the age of 18? 24. Are you now in jail waiting for a court appearance? O Yes O No **24a.** If yes, what are your charges? (Check all that apply): O Misdemeanor – Person O Misdemeanor - Other O Misdemeanor – Property O Felony – Person O Felony – Property O Drug Offense O Probation/parole violation O DUI O Other 25. Are you serving a jail sentence now? O Yes O No 25a. If yes, what was the conviction that resulted in your jail sentence? O Misdemeanor – Person O Misdemeanor – Property O Misdemeanor – Other O Drug Offense O Probation/parole violation O DUI 25b. What is the amount of time you were sentenced to jail? O 1 – 10 days O 11 - 20 days O 21 - 30 days O 31 – 60 days O 61 – 90 days O 91 - 120 days O 121 – 180 days O More than 180 days

O 1 - 10 days O 11 – 20 days O 21 – 30 days O 31 - 60 days O 61 – 90 days O 91 – 120 days O 121 – 180 days O More than 180 days 27. How many times have you been to jail? O First time O2 - 3 times O4-5 times $O_6 - 7$ times O8 - 9times O 10 or more times 28. How many times have you been sentenced to serve time in jail? O Never O 1 time O 2 times O 3 times O 4 times O 5 times O More than 5 times 29. How many times have you been in jail in the last 12 months? O First time O 2 times O 3 times O 4 times O 5 times O More than 5 times 30. Are you on probation now? O Yes O No

O No

O No

O_{No}

O No

O Yes

O Yes

O Yes

O Yes

O Yes O No

30a. If yes, do you have a probation officer?

31a. If yes, why? O Technical violation O New offense O Other

33a. If yes, why? O Technical violation O New offense O Other

31. Have you ever had your probation revoked?

32a. If yes, do you have a parole officer?

33. Have you ever had your parole or post-prison release

32. Are you on parole now?

revoked?

26. What is the total time that you have been in jail during your current incarceration?

34. Have you served time in	prison?	OY	es O No	
34a. If yes, how many ti	mes have you been	to prison?		
O 1 time O 2 times	O 3 times O Mor	e than 3 times		
34b. What is the total a	mount of time you h	ave spent in priso	n?	
O Less than 1 yr.	O 1 yr. – less tha	n 2 yrs. O 2 yrs.	– less than 3 yrs.	
O 3 yrs. – less than 4 yrs.	O 4 yrs. – less tha	an 5 yrs. O 5 yrs.	– less than 6 yrs.	
O 6 yrs. – less than 7 yrs.	O 7 yrs. – less tha	an 10 yrs. O 10 yr	s. or more	
34c. What was your age	the first time you w	ent to prison?		
O 18 – 22 O 23 – 26	O 27 – 30	O 31 – 34		
O 35 – 38 O 39 – 42	O 43 or older			
34d. When were you las	t released from pris	on?		
O less than 6 months	O 6 mons. – less	than 1 yr. O 1 – le	ess than 2 yrs.	
O 2 yrs. – less than 3 yrs.	O 3 – 5 yrs.	O More	e than 5 yrs. ago	
34e. What were the con	victions that resulte	ed in your prison se	entence (s)? (Check a	all that apply):
O Felony – Person	O Felony – Pro	operty O	Drug Offense	
O Probation/parole viola	ition O DUI	0	Other	
34f. While in prison, did	you ever participat	e in any of the foll	owing programs? (C	neck all that apply):
O Resume Building	O Job Search	ing	O Parenting Skills	
O Anger Management	O Substance	Abuse Treatment	O GED	
35. Were you ever convicted	of a Measure 11 of	fense? O Y	es O No	
36. Was your father ever in j	ail?	OY	es O No	
36a. About how many t	mes was your fathe	r in jail?		
O 1 time O	2 – 3 times	O 4 – 5 times	O 6 – 7 times	

O More than 7 times O Not sure

37. Was your fa	ather ever in pris	on?		O Yes	O No
37a. Aboı	ut how many tim	es was your fath	er in prison?		
O 1 time	O 2 – 3 times	O 4 – 5 times	O More tha	n 5 times	O Not sure
38. Was your n	nother ever in jai	1?		O Yes	O No
38a. Aboı	ut how many tim	es was your mot	her in jail?		
O 1 time O More th	O 2 - nan 7 times O No	– 3 times ot sure	O 4 – 5 time	es	O 6 – 7 times
39. Was your n	nother ever in pri	ison?		O Yes	O No
39a. Aboı	ut how many tim	es was your mot	her in prison	?	
O 1 time	O 2 – 3 times	O 4 – 5 times	O More tha	n 5 times	O Not sure
-	ther family mem ever been incarce		ints, uncles,	O Yes	O No
41. Do you hav	e any brothers o	r sisters?		O Yes	O No
41a. If ye	s, how many sibli	ings do you have	e? O1	O 2 C	O More than 3
	e any of them eve on of the Juvenile		e	O Yes	O No
41c. Have detention	e any of them even?	er been held in ju	ıvenile	O Yes	O No
41d. Have	e any of them eve	er been in jail?		O Yes	O No
41e. Have	e any of them eve	er been in prison	?	O Yes	O No

Social Services

42. Have you ever applied for and received the following services? (Please answer each question):

Service type	Did you ever a	pply?	If yes, did you r services?	eceive
42a. Food stamps	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42b. Cash assistance	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42c. Oregon Health Plan	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42d. Housing assistance	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42e. Child Care Subsidy	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42f. Child Welfare	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42g. Marion County Health Department	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42h. Mental health services	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42i. Substance Abuse treatment	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42j. Women's Clinic	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42k. Domestic Violence services	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42l. Head Start or Preschool programs	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42m. Healthy Start or other home visit programs	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42n. Vocational Rehabilitation services	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42o. Senior services	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No
42p. Other program or service	O Yes	O No	O Yes	O No

Disabilities, Medical, and Mental Health Issues

43. Do y	ou have any	disabilities?		O Yes	O N	0
43	a. If yes, what	t is the nature of y	our disability? (Che	eck all that ap	ply):	
01	Medical O P	Psychological O	Other			
	b. Have you e sabilities?	ver applied for bei	nefits for your	O Yes	O No	0
	c. Have you e	ver been denied b	enefits for your	O Yes	O N	0
43	d. Do you rece	eive any benefits fo	or your disabilities	? O Yes	O No)
	e. Does your o d employmen	-	with your ability to	o O Yes	O No)
44. Do y	you have any i	medical problems?	?	O Yes	O No)
448	a. If yes, what	is the nature of yo	our medical proble	ms? (Check a	ll that	apply):
O A	arthritis	O Asthma	O Hypertension	O Heart-rel	ated	O Diabetes
ΟH	lepatitis	O HIV	O Tuberculosis	O Kidney-re	elated	O Stroke
00	Cancer	O Paralysis	O STD	O Liver-rela	ated	O Other
45. Do y	ou have med	ical insurance or c	overage?	O Yes	O No)
46. Hav	e you ever be	en tested for AIDS	/HIV?	O Yes	O No)
47. Hav	e you ever be	en treated for AID	S/HIV?	O Yes	O No)
48. Hav	e you ever be	en tested for Hepa	ntitis C?	O Yes	O No)
49. Hav	e you ever be	en treated for Hep	atitis C?	O Yes	O No	•
50. Hav	e you ever be	en tested for tube	rculosis (TB)?	O Yes	O No	•
51. Hav	e you ever be	en treated for tub	erculosis (TB)?	O Yes	O No)
52. Hav	e you ever red	ceived mental heal	lth services?	O Yes	O No)
53. Hav	-	en diagnosed with	a mental health	O Yes	O No)

53a. If yes, what was the diagnosis? (Ch	eck all that apply):			
O Depression	O Bipolar			
O Anxiety	O Schizophrenia			
O Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)	O Obsessive-com	pulsive di	isorder (OCD)	
O Other				
53b. When did you receive this diagnos	is?			
O In the last 6 months O 6 mons. –	less than 1 yr. O	1 yr. – le	ess than 3 yrs.	
O 3 yrs. – less than 5 yrs. O More tha	n 5 yrs. ago			
53c. What was your age when you were	e first diagnosed w	ith a mei	ntal health condition?	Τ
54. Were you prescribed medication(s) after	your diagnosis?	O Yes	O No	
54a. If yes, were you taking the medical time of your admission to jail?	tion(s) at the	O Yes	O No	
54b. Were you able to continue your mater admission?	edication(s)	O Yes	O No	
55. Have you ever been hospitalized for a ps condition?	sychiatric	O Yes	O No	
56. Do you currently have a mental health is	ssue?	O Yes	O No	
56a. If yes, what type of issue do you ha	ave? (check all that	t apply):		
O Depression	O Bipolar			
O Anxiety	O Schizophrenia			
O Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)	O Obsessive-com	pulsive d	isorder (OCD)	
O Other				
57. Following your release, do you think you health issue you may have?	ı will have access t	o treatm	ent for any mental	
O Yes O No O Don't know O Do not r	need treatment			

Alcohol and Drugs

58. At what age d	id you first d	rink alcohol?			
O 15 or younger	O 16 – 18	O 19 – 21	O Older than 21	O Neve	r had alcohol
59. Have you eve	r had a problo	em with alco	hol?	O Yes	O No
60. Do you curren	ntly have a pr	oblem with a	lcohol?	O Yes	O No
61. Have you eve	r attended an	alcohol trea	tment program?	O Yes	O No
61a. Did you	ı successfully	complete th	e program?	O Yes	O No
62. Have you ever (excluding metha	-	_	al drug use	O Yes	O No
63. At what age d	id you first u	se an illegal o	Irug?		
O 15 or younger	O 16 – 18	O 19 – 21	O Older than 21	O Neve	r had alcohol
64. Do you curren	ntly have a pr	oblem with i	llegal drug use?	O Yes	O No
65. Have you eve	r had a proble	em with pres	cription drug use?	O Yes	O No
66. Have you eve	r attended a	drug treatme	nt program?	O Yes	O No
66a. Did yo	u successfully	complete th	e program?	O Yes	O No
67. Have you eve	r used metha	mphetamine	(s)?	O Yes	O No
68. Have you eve	r used heroin	?		O Yes	O No
69. Have you ever	r had a proble	em with hero	in use?	O Yes	O No
69a. If yes, I	have you eve	r used any of	the following to st	op your l	heroin use? (Check all that apply):
O Suboxone	O Subutes	ς Ο Naltrey	one O Methado	ne ON	lone of these

70. Have you ever detoxed in jail before?	O Yes	O No
71. When you were a child did your parents or guardians have an alcohol problem?	O Yes	O No
72. When you were a child did your parents or guardians have a drug problem?	O Yes	O No
Family Situation and Social	Ties	
73. Were your parents married?	O Yes	O No
73a. If yes, did your parents divorce?	O Yes	O No
73ai. If yes, how old were you when they divorced?		
O Under 5 O 6 - 9 O 10 - 12 O 13 - 15 O 16 - 18 O Older than 18		
74. Did you ever live in foster home?	O Yes	O No
74a. If yes, how long did you live in a foster home?		
O Less than 6 months O 6 – 12 months O 13 – O 24 – 36 months O More than 36 months	– 24 mor	nths
74b. How would you consider your foster home experier	nce?	
O Very good O Good O Average O Bad O Very	bad	
75. Thinking back to your childhood and living with your paren best describes the economic situation of your household?	ts/guard	lians, which of the following
O Poor O Working class O Middle class O Well-to-do	O Other	
76. Have you ever been involved with a gang?	O Yes	O No
77. Have any of your family members (father, mother, aunts,	O Yes	O No

78.	Do you have chil	dren?			(O Yes	O No		
	78a. If yes, how	many children do	you ha	ave?					
	O 1	O 2	O 3	() 4		O 5	O 6	
	O 7	O 8	O 9	() 10		O More t	han 10	
	78h How many	of your children a	ra und	er the age o	f 192				
	O 1	-	O 3	_) 4		O 5	06	
	O 7						O More t		
	07	O &	O 9) 10		O More ti	ian 10	
	78c. How many	children were livin	g with	you at the	time of	your arı	est?		
	O 1	O 2	O 3	() 4		O 5	O 6	
	O 7	O 8	O 9	() 10		O More t	han 10	
	78d. Please ente that age categor	er the number of cl ry, leave blank):	hildrer	ı <u>in your ho</u> ı	usehold	<u>l</u> for eacl	n age categ	ory (if no ch	ldren are in
	<u>Age</u>	<u>Number of</u> <u>Children</u>							
	Newborn to 5 yr	rs.							
	6 - 10 yrs.	Ħ							
	11 - 12 yrs.	Ħ							
	13 - 18 yrs.	Ħ							
	Over 18 yrs.								
	78e. Where are	the children curre	ntly liv	ing? (Check	all that	apply):			
	O Spouse/partne	er O Gran	ndpare	nt(s)	O F	oster ho	me	O Othe	r relatives
	O Grown and on	their own O Othe	er						
	78f. Are you the	custodial parent c	of any	of these chil	dren?	O Ye	s O No	O Custody	is shared
	78g. What source	ces of support do y	ou hav	e to help ra	ise you	ır child(r	en)? (Check	all that app	ly):
	O Current Spous	e		O Ex-Spous	e				
	O Significant oth	er (girlfriend/boyfr	riend)	O Grandpar	rents				
	O Other relatives	S		O Friends					
	O Neighbors			O Social sei	rvices				
	O Daycare/babys	sitter		O Pastor/fa	ith-bas	ed conn	ections		
	O Older children	caring for younger	ones	O Other					

Domestic Violence/Abuse

79. Please answer the following questions as honestly as you can:

	Yes	No
79a. Has your current or most recent partner controlled or tried to control your daily activities (e.g., who you can be friends with, etc.)?	0	0
79b. Have you ever had a partner control or tried to control your daily activities (e.g., who you can be friends with, etc.)?	0	0
79c. Has your current or most recent partner told you that you were unattractive, stupid or dumb?	0	0
79d. Have you ever had a partner who told you that you were unattractive, stupid or dumb?	0	0
79e. Has your current or most recent partner insulted or shamed you in front of others?	0	0
79f. Have you ever had a partner who insulted or shamed you in front of others?	0	0
79g. Has your current or most recent partner ever pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or otherwise hurt you?	0	0
79h. Have you ever had a partner who ever pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or otherwise hurt you?	0	0
79i. Has your current or most recent partner ever caused you to miss work or school because of injuries or upset caused by violence?	0	0
79j. Have you ever had a partner who caused you to miss work or school because of injuries or upset caused by violence?	0	0
79k. Has your current or most recent partner ever forced you to have sexual activities?	0	0
79l. Have you ever had a partner who forced you to have sexual activities?	0	0
79m. Are you afraid for your safety while in jail?	0	0
79n. Are you afraid for the safety of your children now?	0	0
79o. Are you afraid for your safety when you are released?	0	0
79p. Were you physically abused as a child?	0	0
79q. Were you neglected as a child?	0	0
79r. Have you ever been a victim of sexual abuse?	0	0
79s. Have you ever witnessed domestic violence between your parents or between one of your parents and his/her partner?	0	0

The following question is for FEMALE participants ONLY:

80. Have you ever been pushed, hit, slapped, kicked, or otherwise hurt by a spouse/partner while pregnant?
O Yes O No O Never been pregnant
Final questions
81. In your opinion, what is the main reason you are in jail today? Please select ONE answer:
O Alcohol use
O Drug use
O Bad choices
O Violating a judge's order
O Violating probation
O Homelessness
O Unemployment
O Lack of legal assistance
O No reintegration assistance
O Lack of mental health services
O Other
82. How could your chances of staying out of jail be increased? (Check all that apply):
O I will not return to jail
O Stop using alcohol
O Stop using drugs
O Substance abuse treatment
O Get record expunged
O Find a place to live
O Better relationship choices
O Anger control
O Education opportunities
O Better access to mental health services
O Better access to medical care
O Take medication as prescribed
O Find a job
O Obtain driver's license
O Resolve child custody issue(s)
O Other

• , ,	•	ould help you and your family in important and 3 being the third
a. Employment	g. Education	
b. Housing	h. Food	
c. Substance abuse	i. Financial assistance	
treatment	j. Legal assistance	
d. Childcare assistance	k. Other	
e. Medical care	K. Other	
f. Mental health care		